Public Document Pack
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Planning Committee (South)
Tuesday, 17th August, 2021 at 2.30 pm
Park Suite, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham

Councillors:

Brian Donnelly (Chairman)
Tim Lloyd (Vice-Chairman)
John Blackall
Chris Brown
Karen Burgess
Jonathan Chowen
Philip Circus
Paul Clarke
Michael Croker
Ray Dawe
Nigel Jupp
Lynn Lambert

Mike Morgan
Roger Noel
Bob Platt
Josh Potts
Kate Rowbottom
Jack Saheid
Jim Sanson
Diana van der Klugt
James Wright

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business
Glen Chipp
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2021
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.)

3.

Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee

4.

Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the
Chief Executive

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) Horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive – Glen Chipp

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

7 - 12

To consider the following reports of the Head of Development & Building Control and to take
such action thereon as may be necessary:

5.

Appeals

13 - 14

Applications for determination by Committee:
6.

DC/20/0854 - Copped Hall Farm, Okehurst Lane, Billingshurst

15 - 42

Ward: Bilingshurst
Applicant: Mr and Mrs L Dace
7.

DC/21/1234 - Ashley House, Roundabout Copse, West Chiltington

43 - 56

Ward: West Chiltington, Thakeham and Ashington
Applicant: Mr and Mrs Hirsch
8.

DC/21/0993 - Brookside Farm, Dagbrook Lane, Henfield
Ward: Henfield
Applicant: Mark Hooper

9.

Urgent Business
Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion
should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances

57 - 70

Agenda Annex
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution)
Addressing the
Committee

Members must address the meeting through the Chair. When the
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at
the time must stop.

Minutes

Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the
minutes only.

Quorum

Quorum is one quarter of the total number of Committee Members. If
there is not a quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately.
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the
Chairman. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be
considered at the next committee meeting.

Declarations of
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or
pecuniary). If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in
advance of the meeting.

Announcements

These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no
debate/decisions.

Appeals

The Chairman will draw the Committee’s attention to the appeals listed
in the agenda.

Agenda Items

The Planning Officer will give a presentation of the application, referring
to any addendum/amended report as appropriate outlining what is
proposed and finishing with the recommendation.

Public Speaking on
Agenda Items
(Speakers must give
notice by not later than
noon two working
days before the date
of the meeting)

Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District are allowed 5 minutes
each to make representations; members of the public who object to the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes; applicants and members of the public who support the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes. Any time limits may be changed at the discretion of
the Chairman.

Rules of Debate

The Chairman controls the debate and normally follows these rules
but the Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain
purpose) and seconded
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to
him/her before it is discussed
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the planning application under discussion or
a personal explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes or longer at
the discretion of the Chairman)
- A Member may not speak again except:
o On an amendment to a motion
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been
amended since he/she last spoke
o If the first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the
main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply. Mover of original motion

Page 3

-

-

-

-

has a right to reply at end of debate on original motion
and any amendments (but may not otherwise speak on
amendment). Mover of amendment has no right of reply.
o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of
Council Procedure Rules or law. Chairman must hear
the point of order immediately. The ruling of the
Chairman on the matter will be final.
o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier
speech by the Member which may appear to have been
misunderstood. The Chairman’s ruling on the
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.
Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for
(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert words or add others (as long as
this does not negate the motion)
One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided
upon.
Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which
further amendments may be moved.
A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Alternative Motion to
Approve

If a Member moves an alternative motion to approve the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to refuse), and it is
seconded, Members will vote on the alternative motion after debate. If a
majority vote against the alternative motion, it is not carried and
Members will then vote on the original recommendation.

Alternative Motion to
Refuse

If a Member moves an alternative motion to refuse the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to approve), the
Mover and the Seconder must give their reasons for the alternative
motion. The Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property
or the Head of Development will consider the proposed reasons for
refusal and advise Members on the reasons proposed. Members will
then vote on the alternative motion and if not carried will then vote on
the original recommendation.

Voting

Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- Two Members request a recorded vote
- A recorded vote is required by law.
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Vice-Chairman

In the Chairman’s absence (including in the event the Chairman is
required to leave the Chamber for the debate and vote), the ViceChairman controls the debate and follows the rules of debate as above.

Page 4

Original recommendation to APPROVE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – APPROVED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT
A REFUSAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Member to move
alternative motion
to REFUSE and give
planning reasons

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 5

Director considers
planning reasons

Vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)
carried – APPROVED

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to REFUSE1

Majority against?
Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
to REFUSE carried
amended condition(s) - REFUSED
not carried – VOTE ON
ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to REFUSE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated
1

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Subject to Director’s power to refer application to Full Council if cost implications are likely.

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Original recommendation to REFUSE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – REFUSED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT AN
APPROVAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE and give
planning reasons2

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 6

Director considers
planning reasons

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE carried
- APPROVED

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated

2

Oakley v South Cambridgeshire District Council and another [2017] EWCA Civ 71

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Agenda Item 2
Planning Committee (South)
20 JULY 2021

Present:

Councillors: Brian Donnelly (Chairman), Tim Lloyd (Vice-Chairman),
John Blackall, Chris Brown, Karen Burgess, Jonathan Chowen,
Philip Circus, Paul Clarke, Michael Croker, Ray Dawe, Lynn Lambert,
Mike Morgan, Roger Noel, Bob Platt, Josh Potts, Kate Rowbottom,
Jack Saheid, Jim Sanson, Diana van der Klugt and James Wright

Absent:

Councillors: Nigel Jupp

PCS/12 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 June were approved as a correct record and
signed by the Chairman.

PCS/13 DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
DC/21/0758 – Councillor Mike Morgan declared a personal interest in this item
because he knows the applicant.
DC/21/0726 – Councillor Lynn Lambert declared a personal interest in this item
because she knows the applicant.
DC/20/2167 – Councillor Jim Sanson declared a personal and prejudicial
interest in this item because his home backs onto the application site. He
withdrew from the meeting for this item and took no part in its determination.
PCS/14 ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements.
PCS/15 APPEALS
The list of appeals lodged, appeals in progress and appeal decisions, as
circulated, was noted. The Head of Development & Building Control explained
that a split decision (where there is partial approval) could not apply to a
planning application, but to an advertising consent or certificate of lawful use.
PCS/16 DC/20/1519 - HOBBITS, STALL HOUSE LANE, NORTH HEATH,
PULBOROUGH
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission to demolish and build a two-storey detached 4-bedroom
home with detached double garage. The proposal included an equestrian
arena, outdoor riding arena, new equestrian facilities and associated parking.

1

Page 7

Planning Committee (South)
20 July 2021

The Committee had considered the application twice before: it had agreed that
the application be approved in December 2020, subject to the amendment of
conditions in consultation with Local Members (Minute No PCS/54 (15.12.20)
refers). A paragraph of NPPF had been misquoted at that Committee and, after
legal advice, the application had been re-presented to Committee in February
(Minute No PCS/61 (16.02.21) refers). Members at the latter Committee voted
to defer a decision so that WSCC Highways could visit the site to assess the
highways impact.
WSCC Highways had subsequently visited the site and submitted further
commentary on the application. They had also responded to a highways report
that had been submitted on behalf of one of the neighbours.
Members were referred to the previous reports, which contained details of the
application site, relevant policies, planning history, the outcome of consultations
and a planning assessment of the proposal.
In addition to the independently commissioned highways report, five further
letters of objection had been received, one of which was on behalf of a number
of residents, as set out in the report.
Members were advised that an additional four objections had been received
since publication of the report, which focused on concerns regarding traffic
movements.
Three members of the public spoke in objection to the application. The
applicant, the applicant’s agent and a transport consultant all addressed the
Committee in support of the proposal.
Members considered the officers assessment following consideration of the
information submitted. They questioned whether the application was for private
or commercial use and how this was reflected in the highways assessments.
Officers advised that they were satisfied that it was for predominantly private
use with a commercial element, and that the commercial element could be
controlled by Condition 19, which was robust and enforceable.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/1519 be granted subject to the conditions
as reported.
PCS/17 DC/21/0753 - WHITEOAKS, SHOREHAM ROAD, SMALL DOLE, HENFIELD
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought retrospective permission for a change of use of the land to provide a
two-pitch settled gypsy accommodation site.

Page
2 8

Planning Committee (South)
20 July 2021

3

The report wrongly referred to a personal occupancy condition; this was not
included in the application and it was confirmed that the proposal would not
include a personal permission linking the current occupants to the site.
The application site was located to the west of Shoreham Road, outside any
designated built-up area boundary, within the countryside in policy terms. It
was set back from the public highway to the rear of residential and commercial
development fronting the street.
Henfield Parish Council objected to the application. There had been 15
representations objecting to the application from 10 households. One member
of the public spoke in objection to the application. The applicant and the
applicant’s agent both addressed the Committee in support of the proposal. A
representative of the Parish Council spoke in objection to the application.
Members noted the planning history of the site and considered the officer’s
planning assessment, which indicated that the key issues for consideration in
determining the proposal were: principle of development; landscape character;
amenity impacts; and highways impacts.
Members discussed the Inspector’s reasons for refusal of the application at
appeal, and noted that the installation of the bus stop close to the site had
overcome this reason, given that there was no objection from the Highway
Authority. It was also noted that, because there was no personal occupancy
condition, the Gypsy and Traveller status of the applicant was not a planning
consideration.
Officers agreed that the recommendations within the body of the report,
regarding conditions to limit water consumption and the provision of full fibre
broadband site connectivity, be added to the conditions as printed in the report.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/0753 be granted subject to the conditions
as reported, to include additional conditions regarding water consumption
and broadband connectivity, as recommended in paragraph 6.45 of the
report.
PCS/18 DC/21/0057 - ANGELL SAND PIT, WASHINGTON ROAD, STORRINGTON
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission for a phased development of six detached houses (four to be
self-build) with associated landscaping, drainage, and access improvements to
Heather Way.
The application site was located within the very eastern side of Storrington
Built-up area boundary and comprised an area of sloping land, which was a
former sand quarry. Since operations had ceased, the land had been infilled

Page3 9

Planning Committee (South)
20 July 2021

with waste material, rendering it to be classified as a ‘landfill site’, and restored
to a natural habitat.
The Parish Council has objected to the application. There had been 20 letters
objecting to the application and one letter in support. The applicant’s agent
addressed the Committee in support of the proposal, and a representative of
the Parish Council spoke in objection to it.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: principle of
development; layout, design and appearance; landscape and biodiversity;
amenity impacts; heritage impacts; highways impacts, access and parkin;
affordable housing and housing mix; and the impact of self-build/ phased
development.
It was noted that concerns regarding contaminated land were addressed
through Condition 12, which required a site-wide remediation strategy.
Members were concerned that the proposed housing mix did not reflect the
aspirations implied in the Neighbourhood Plan for a predominance of smaller
units. It was therefore agreed that the application to be deferred to allow for the
proposal to be revised.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/0057 be deferred to allow for the scheme
to be amended to include a more appropriate mix of dwellings with a
greater number of smaller 2- and 3-bedroom units.
PCS/19 DC/21/0726 - SOUTHVIEW, LITTLEWORTH LANE, PARTRIDGE GREEN
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought planning permission for a three-bedroom chalet-style detached home
and creation of a vehicle access.
The application site was located north of Partridge Green, within Littleworth, an
unclassified settlement of residential development either side of the highway. It
comprised a side garden that formed a corner plot on the junction of Littleworth
Lane and Mill Lane. The area was residential and of semi-rural character.
The Parish Council raised no objection to the application. One representation
had been received from a nearby property concerned about the alignment of
windows and driveway, and the applicant had amended the proposal
accordingly.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: principle;
character and appearance; impact on amenity; and highways.

Page 410

Planning Committee (South)
20 July 2021

5

RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/0726 be granted subject to the conditions
as reported.
PCS/20 DC/20/2167 - FARTHING COTTAGE, 13 AMBERLEY ROAD,
STORRINGTON, PULBOROUGH
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought planning permission for a first-floor rear extension and installation of an
extended raised platform with veranda and decking to the rear garden, and a
front porch.
The application site was within the built-up area of Storrington and formed the
end of a row of terraces to the south of Amberley Road. The dwelling occupied
a narrow rectangular plot with a short front garden and medium sized rear
garden.
The Parish Council objected to the application. No letters of representation had
been received for this application. A representative of the Parish Council spoke
in objection to the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: design and
appearance; and amenity impacts. It was noted that the applicant had
amended the proposal so that the first floor rear extension adhered to the ‘45
degree’ rule to prevent significant overshadowing and reduce its impact on the
neighbouring first floor windows.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/2167 be granted subject to the conditions
as reported.

The meeting closed at 5.42 pm having commenced at 2.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page5 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Planning Committee (SOUTH)
Date: 17th August 2021
Report on Appeals: 08/07/2021 – 04/08/2021
1.

Appeals Lodged

Horsham District Council have received notice from the Planning Inspectorate that the following
appeals have been lodged:
Ref No.

Site

Date
Lodged

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

DC/20/2200

Brangwyn
Station Road
Henfield
West Sussex
BN5 9UP

12-Jul-21

Application
Refused

Application
Refused

DC/21/1157

9 Beechwood
Small Dole
Henfield
West Sussex
BN5 9YS

20-Jul-21

TBC

N/A

DC/20/1906

Birchfield Nursery
Birchfield Nursery
Kidders Lane
Henfield
West Sussex
BN5 9AB

21-Jul-21

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

DC/20/2444

Barns To The South of Adams
Garden
Henfield
West Sussex
BN5 9RF

29-Jul-21

Application
Refused

N/A

2.

Appeals started

Consideration of the following appeals has started during the period:
Ref No.

Site

The Henfield Tea
Gardens
High Street
DC/20/1353
Henfield
West Sussex
BN5 9DE

Appeal
Procedure

Start Date

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

Written
Representation

08-Jul-21

Split Decision

Page 13

N/A

3.

Appeal Decisions

HDC have received notice from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government that
the following appeals have been determined:
Ref No.

Site

Appeal
Procedure

EN/20/0431

14 Coxham Lane
Steyning
West Sussex
BN44 3LG

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Page 14

Decision

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution
Notice served

N/A

Agenda Item 6
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

17 August 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Change of use of land to bailing and storage of agricultural plastics for
subsequent despatch and off-site recycling

SITE:

Copped Hall Farm Okehurst Lane Billingshurst West Sussex RH14 9HR

WARD:

Billingshurst

APPLICATION:

DC/20/0854

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs L Dace Address: C/O Agent

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: Deferred from 16 March committee
RECOMMENDATION:

To refuse the application for the reason set out in this report.

1.

ASSESSMENT

1.1

This application was presented at Planning Committee South, 16 March 2021 (see Appendix
A) where members resolved that the application be deferred for the submission of a Noise
Assessment of the proposed use.

1.2

A Noise Impact Assessment (May 2021) by Environmental Assessment Services Limited
(EAS Ltd), under instruction by the applicant, was received 03 June 2021. A subsequent
response to commentary from Stantec Acoustic under instruction of objectors, was received
29 July 2021.

1.2

In addition to the Noise Impact Assessment, since the previous committee further supporting
evidence from the applicant, third party representations, and re-consultation responses has
been received and is itemised below:

From the applicant, a Supporting Statement dated 03 June and Statement on Need
dated 30 June 2021.



From Ashurst LLP, representing the occupiers of Copped Hall, correspondence (20
May and 08 July 2021) which raises issue with how certain matters related to the
development scheme have been assessed (Heritage; Need and location; Quantity of
waste to be stored at any one time; Trip Generation; and Residential Amenity), the
need for further information/clarification on certain matters, and a review by Stantec
Acoustic of the applicant’s EAS Ltd Noise Report.



Further representation from third parties both in support and in objection, raising no
new issues to those previously reported, and from Billingshurst Parish Council

Contact Officer: Matthew Porter

Page 15

Tel: 01403 215561

maintaining its strong objection for the reasons as previously reported at the 16
March Committee.

1.3

Re-consultation responses from WSCC Local Highway Authority and WSCC Waste
Authority, and HDC Environmental Health.

The officer response to this additional supporting evidence, and additional representation
and consultation is set out below:Need and Location and Previously Developed Land

1.4

Ashurst LLP on behalf of objectors has stated the applicant has provided very little
information to justify the need for the development in this location. It is contended no
evidence has been provided of a market need other than a few letters of support, and that
no information on other operator capacity means it is difficult to conclude whether or not the
proposed development conflicts with Policy W1. Ashurst LLP disagrees with the contention
that the existing hard is previously developed land as there is no evidence of the land being
occupied by a permanent structure. No information has been provided in relation to suitable
alternative sites.

1.5

In response, the applicant has stated Farm XS is the only farm plastic waste collector and
operator with sites in West Sussex, and whilst four other businesses offer a service within
the WSCC area these are based elsewhere. According to the applicant, the nature of the
business and client base means the most appropriate Farm XS collectors and sites are on a
farm. According to the applicant, in late 2019 Farm XS wrote to 570 farmers seeking a new
collector and site following retirement of the previous collector. Out of that process, Copped
Hall Farm was considered the best option.

1.6

WSCC as the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (MWPA) has been re-consulted on
these matters. With regard to need, the MWPA has replied it is not made aware of every
waste operation within the county, particularly those that operate at a small and localised
scale in response to a niche market. The WSCC Waste Local Plan (2014) (WLP) shortfalls
don’t take account of agricultural waste and, as set out in paragraph 2.3.1 of the WLP, only
2% of agricultural waste produced is things like packaging, plastic sheeting, chemicals, and
tyres.

1.7

Therefore, the MWPA considers any facilities permitted for purely agricultural waste would
not contribute to the shortfalls, and so the need for such facilities should be demonstrated
by the applicant on a more localised scale as per Policy W1 of the WLP. That said, it is for
the applicant to demonstrate a need for the development as part of their planning application
by identifying/reviewing the proposal against similar sites and/or by demonstrating a likely
customer base/market need. Part of this discussion could identify why a more traditional
waste transfer station isn’t a viable option.

1.8

As determining authority, it is for Horsham District Council to decide the weight afforded to
this need when considering the balance for a planning application. Your Planning Officers
have carefully considered the Farm XS client list and the agricultural, horticultural and
equestrian businesses that have written in to support this development proposal, many of
which cite the need for the service provided by the proposal. From this, it is considered a
likely customer base/market need has been sufficiently demonstrated. Whilst the applicant
is not explicit to why a traditional waste transfer station is not a viable option, the Farm XS
business model is replicated nationwide and its niche operation takes place on other farms
across the country. It would not inappropriate for it to operate similarly in West Sussex.

1.9

As for the assessment of need against other potential sites, the MWPA position on this is
that applications can only be considered as they are submitted. The application site is within

Page 16

the area of search, and so the principle for a waste management facility in this location is
established as per policy W3 of the WLP. Your Planning Officers concur with this.
1.10

With regard to the land being previously developed, your Planning Officers are confident that
this is indeed the case. The site forms an integral part of the curtilage of developed land
associated with an existing equestrian holding occupied by permanent structures, essentially
comprising fixed hard surfacing surface infrastructure used with a number of existing
buildings directly north for storage and parking.

1.11

In summary, in the view of your planning officers the applicant has sufficiently demonstrated
need and the land is previously developed, by NPPF definition. However, for reasons set out
later in this report, and as explained in the March Committee Report, the Local Planning
Authority does not consider this would outweigh the shortcoming of the application on
balance, as it is continues to be recommended for refusal on amenity grounds.

1.12

In the view of your planning officers, the weighting exercise carried out in the 16 March
committee Report remains correct and valid.
Heritage

1.13

Ashurst LLP has stated that the impact of the proposed development on the setting of
Copped had not been assessed either in the information submitted by the applicant or in the
16 March Committee Report.

1.14

Your planning officers accept that harm to the significance of a heritage asset can result from
development within its setting. However, the Council’s Conservation Officer previously
assessed the proposed development and, in his qualified assessment, there would be no
impact upon the setting of the Grade II Listed Copped Hall. His position is unchanged.

1.15

The setting of this heritage asset was considered in a previous appeal at Copped Hall Farm,
which was allowed (DC/19/1257 – to convert one of the outbuildings to a single storey
dwelling). In that appeal, the planning Inspector reasoned the intervening buildings and their
uses has significantly changed the former historic relationship between Copped Hall and the
application site. The growth and expansion of Copped Hall Farm and its uses, as well as the
adjacent cluster of residential buildings, has, over time, already impacted upon the setting of
Copped Hall through the introduction of busyness, bustle movement and activity. The result
is, in terms of its setting character, so much historical rural tranquillity and remoteness has
been already compromised that further diminishment of the scale and nature of the
development proposed is judged to have no impact upon the significance of the heritage
asset. The proposal would therefore accord with HDPF Policy 34 which seeks to protect the
heritage assets of the district and the Framework.
Trip generation and waste stored on site

1.16

Highway matters were addressed in the 16 March report and your officer’s position on these
matters is unchanged. The Local Highway Authority has advised on the new evidence and
they maintain No Objection. Ashurst LLP has queried the extent of plastic storage on site.
The applicant has confirmed the proposal is for up to 250 bags of plastic (a maximum of 40
bales) to be stored at any one time. The applicant has offered that baling can be restricted
to weekdays. Maximum of 130 deliveries annually and a maximum of 15 weekly, with no
more than 6 deliveries in any one day. Your officers believe sufficient detail has been
submitted on the operation of the proposed use to be able to sufficiently assess its impact,
which is set out in the paragraphs below.

Page 17

Noise Report
1.17

Ashurst LLP has stated their client is concerned how the predicated levels of noise have
been identified and assessed in the submitted EAS Ltd Noise Assessment and that the noise
assessment does not accurately reflect the noise experienced both on farms operating
similar recycling developments or the development operating in the worst case scenario.

1.18

According to The Stantec Acoustic Review, submitted by Ashurst LLP, incorrect standards
and principles have been applied within the EAS Ltd Assessment so the report’s conclusions
are unsupported and unreliable. Stantec are therefore of the view that no weight should be
attached to the report and the related assessment.

1.19

EAS Ltd responded to the Stantec Acoustic Review on 29 July 2021, on the matters of
dispute, including compliance with Policy, Assessment Methodology including Background
and Operational Sound Levels, and Application of BS4142. Their conclusion is the EAS
Assessment is based on sound level measures, and that the proposed operation will not
cause unacceptable levels of noise pollution, if operated in accordance with the proposed
planning conditions.

1.20

Short term noise monitoring was carried out at three locations around the site on Tuesday
13 April 2021. This was to obtain a representative reading of background noise levels across
the site. A further period of continuous monitoring was carried out between Tues 13 April
and Tues 20 April at a location north of the operating site close to the boundary with Copped
Hall Barn. The principal noise sources were associated with low-key activities carried out
around the site, e.g. movement of horse from stables to paddocks and exercise areas,
feeding and clearing stables, use of a powered horse walker etc. There was minimal noise
from traffic either on or off the site.

1.21

Noise from the baling operation was not measured at the site. It was assessed using British
Standard BS4142. Monitoring of the operation of a baling machine was undertaken at a
surrogate site. It took place at a farm location in Sandon, Staffordshire on 10 May 2021. The
baler was operating in a similar setting to the application site, on a minor road carrying similar
traffic mix and volume as Okehurst Lane. Specific noise generating activities associated with
the baling cooperation compromised the following – loading of plastics, diesel generator
providing power to the baling rams, baling ram mounted on lorry within streel container. Noise
from the ram in motion was discernible above the generator and loading tractor engine noise.
Unloading from the baler was by a telehandler. Noise from this process was limited to the
telehandler engine and audible reversing alarm. The sound from the operation was
continuous whilst bailing was in process.

1.22

The applicant provided a breakdown of the vehicle types and predicated frequency of
journeys. This information was used to estimate the likely noise impacts on neighbouring
properties.

1.23

The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has also advised on the EAS Ltd
Assessment. He is satisfied the Assessment was undertaken by a competent person, who
surveyed the background noise environment from the site and noise levels from other FX
farm sites where the operation is taking place. The report also surveyed traffic noise.

1.24

The Council’s EHO is of the opinion the EAS Ltd Assessment has been undertaken and
measured in accordance with the relevant paragraphs of the National Planning Policy
Framework, National Planning Practice Guidance and the Noise Policy Statement for
England. It is accepted and well established practice to use representative data from similar
sites for the process of mathematical modelling of noise impacts, both nationally in the UK
and internationally through the WHO and other national governments. This is simply because
no sites are ever directly equivalent. The Planning Noise Advice Document Sussex as well
as British Standard applies. There are two well established British Standards which can be

Page 18

applied to the assessment of noise impacts. On the question of disturbance BS4142 sets out
the procedure to be adopted for the assessment of commercial and industrial noise and is
specially designed to provide an assessment on the likelihood of complaints. There are also
standard reference values for plant and machinery listed in BS5228:2009 widely used in
noise modelling calculations.
1.25

In his qualified opinion, the Council’s EHO would have to accept a satisfactory noise
assessment that meets the requirements of the relevant British Standard. In his view, the
survey is representative of the full range of operations at the proposed facility. The
mechanics of the report in terms of the data and calculations are therefore satisfactory, to
inform the planning assessment to whether the proposal is compliant with policy.
Residential Amenity

1.26

Aside from the bailing operation itself, concern has also been raised by objectors regarding
noise impacts associated with ancillary vehicle movements. According to Ashurst LLP, their
clients believe it is a matter of fact that the noise from the proposed operations would be
considerable, and that approval would result in a significant adverse impact on their
residential amenity. A condition restricting the level of noise on the site would not be
enforceable it is said.

1.27

The EAS Ltd Assessment identified the nearest sensitive receptors as the residential
properties to the north and northeast of the site at Copped Hall, Copped Hall Barn and
Okehurst House and Copped Hall Farm Cottages to the northwest.

1.28

The EAS Ltd Assessment comprised continuous sound level monitoring at Copped Hall Farm
over a period of a week, together with a series of short-term measurements around the site
to establish the background and ambient sound levels under current operational conditions.
The farm is used for equestrian activities. The noise levels measured were typical of a rural
setting.

1.29

It was not possible to undertake sound measurement of the baling operation at the
application site. A ‘surrogate’ farm site, where the mobile baling machine was operating, was
used to measure noise generated by the baling machine and the ancillary loading plant. The
noise measurements were used to undertake a BS4142 assessment which indicated
‘likelihood of significant adverse impact at the assessment location’. The assessment
location in this case was at a distance of 5 metres from the operation. The rating level
generated by the BS4142 assessment was superimposed on the sound level readings for
Copped Hall Farm and adjustments made to take account of the distance of the operation
site from the nearest receptors and the influence of any screening provided by existing
buildings at the farm.

1.30

For the neighbouring properties at Copped Hall Barn and Okehurst House, the calculated
noise levels from the baling operation were predicted to be less than the existing background
sound level at the nearest boundaries. Calculated sound levels at the boundaries of Copped
Hall and Copped Hall Farm Cottages were marginally in excess of the existing background
noise levels but still complied with both the WHO community noise guidelines and the British
Standard Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings (BS 8233:2014).

1.31

Given that the calculated noise impact of the baling operation on neighbouring properties is
negligible, and that it is to be conducted on a maximum of 8 days per year, the EAS Ltd
Assessment did not consider it necessary to recommend any specific noise attenuation
measures.

1.32

The EAS Ltd Assessment makes recommendations to further reduce noise impacts: Maintaining low vehicle speeds on site; arranging vehicle routes to minimise reversing;
and using white noise reversing beacons.

Page 19



Areas of planting/soft landscaping in order to reduce reflective surfacing which may
transmit noise, through a landscape plan, with a management scheme.

Character
1.33

The Council’s EHO has provided his assessment on the conclusions of the EAS Ltd
Assessment, which has informed the planning assessment to whether the proposal is
compliant with policy. He believes the reality is that noise is unlikely to be significant in terms
of the averaged noise levels used to describe amenity. In his view, there is nothing identified
in the EAS Ltd Assessment that cannot be managed through appropriate conditions –
principally hours, of work and approved noise management plan. He notes the EAS Ltd
consultant maintains the most significant noise source from daily operations will be the
reversing alarm on the telehandler, which can be changed to a broadband noise alarm.

1.34

However, the Council’s EHO goes on to confirm this would not mean that the residents will
not discern a change. As discussed in 16 March committee report, the proposal would alter
the character of the yard from an equestrian to industrial/waste activity. Local plan policy
HDPF Policy 26 (Countryside Protection) and Waste Local Plan Policy W11 (Character) both
seek to protect the intrinsic rural character and undeveloped nature of the countryside. Policy
26 requires sustainable development in the countryside to be of a scale appropriate to its
rural character and location which does not lead to a significant increase in activity. Also
HDPF Policy 10 encouragement of rural economic development is caveated to proposals
which maintain the quality and character of the area. As the ESA Ltd Assessment noted,
existing principal noise sources were associated with the low-key activities carried out
around the site, e.g. movement of horse from stables to paddocks and exercise areas,
feeding and clearing stables, use of a powered horse walker etc. There was minimal noise
from traffic either on or off the site. These observations are testament of the rural tranquillity
of the site and the character of surrounding countryside.

1.35

From a planning perspective, the Noise Exposure Hierarchy referred to in National Planning
Practice Guidance sets the points at which development should be controlled (or prevented).
Despite the ESA Ltd Assessment not raising concerns in this regard, your planning officers
are still recommending refusal. This is because it is still considered that the development
would significantly increase the overall level of activity on site, and this intensity of use would
result in a harmful effect on the locality’s rural character and tranquillity. As the experiences
of March 2020 testify, unrestricted, the development resulted in harm of an unacceptable
nature to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers, in conflict with HDPF Policies 24,
26 and 33. The ESA Ltd Assessment concludes the noise impacts of the proposal would
cause harm to residential amenity unless mitigated by operational restrictions and limitations
imposed by condition.

1.36

With this proposal, the level of site occupation and activity would be very noticeably greater.
This is demonstrated in the potential number of movements of waste deliveries /export of
materials, but also in the potential of the development to give rise to noise, light and dust
impacts associated with the sorting and grading of the waste. The ESA Ltd Assessment
recognises this in its conclusions that condition are needed to limit potential activity to
tolerance levels.

1.37

The site locality has a notably rural character. Tranquillity and quiet rural character are
important qualities identified and praised by local residents. These attributes would also be
apparent to users of the extensive network of public rights of way in the immediate vicinity of
the site. The site is directly adjacent to residential dwellings. Despite the ambient noise
levels of the equestrian yard during the day (including servicing and maintenance of trailers,
horseboxes, and machinery), this degree of activity and its physical presence does not justify
additional development of a separate operation on the same site. To the contrary, containing
and maintaining quiet rural character assumes greater importance to safeguard in
accordance with HDPF Policies 26 and 33.

Page 20

1.38

As before, a real impact on residents will be the increase in vehicle movements, which will
be outside of the application site. The area of the operational components and the total
number of movements and associated site activity are important to ensuring an acceptable
scale of development, appropriate to its countryside character and location in accordance
with Policy 26. In the view of Council’s EHO, this is not an argument about noise either as
the increase in movements (if controlled by condition) would not be enough to significantly
elevate road noise in terms of averaged noise levels. However, it is not enforceable to impose
a planning condition that limits the number of vehicle movements associated with the
operation.

1.39

Your Planning Officers note the conclusions of the ESA Ltd Assessment. However, in their
view the character harm arising from the proposed development as set out in the 16 March
Committee Report would still arise.
Conclusion and Planning Balance

1.40

HDPF Policy 26 (Countryside Protection) and Waste Local Plan Policy W11 (Character) both
seek to protect the intrinsic rural character and undeveloped nature of the countryside. Policy
26 requires sustainable development in the countryside to be of a scale appropriate to its
rural character and location which does not lead to a significant increase in activity. The
rural character of the district means the wider rural economy is also important. The
development would support the economics of land based businesses, to support the meeting
of a rural community need, weighing in favour for the proposal. However, HDPF Policy 10
encouragement of rural enterprise is caveated to proposals which maintain the quality and
character of the area. It is still considered by planning officers that the scale and level of
activity of the proposed waste development would give rise to an adverse impact on the
character of the countryside. Account should be taken of the character of the area in which
the proposal is located.

1.41

The new evidence submitted by the applicant has contributed further to demonstration of
need. The development would contribute toward managing waste within the County, and
promote the movement of waste up the hierarchy. These are social and environmental
benefits in favour of the proposal. However, the Waste Authority identifies the need as small
and localised, in response to a niche market, for agricultural waste that does not contribute
to the WSCC Waste Local Plan (2014) (WLP) shortfalls. It is important to note this proposal
would function as a waste transfer site, and in itself it would not realise the benefits of
processing nor recycling the waste itself. As such, in the view of your planning officers, the
weighting exercise carried out in the 16 March committee report remains correct and
unchanged; the need would not outweigh the shortcoming of the application on balance and,
as explained in the March Committee Report, the Local Planning Authority continues to be
recommended for refusal on amenity and character grounds

1.42

The Council’s Environmental Health officer has proposed conditions that can be applied to
meet Environmental Health standards, but those in relation to controlling vehicle movements
are not enforceable and in any case the application of conditions would not address the harm
caused to the rural character of the area from the increased activity and noise at the site. In
this regard neutral weight is given to the Environment Health Officer’s comments. The same
neutral weight is given to the lack of objection from the Local Highway and Waste Authorities,
as well as compliance with statutory tests and relevant planning policy in regard to heritage
assets.

1.43

In reaching this conclusion, your planning officers acknowledge the area designated for the
proposed activity is at the southernmost extent of the farm building complex at the furthest
point from neighbouring properties. The baling machine is a mobile unit which is to be
operated on no more than 8 days per annum. The baling operation and associated traffic
movements are restricted to daytime working hours on a limited number of days throughout
the year. Ultimately, however, the acceptability of the proposal will depend upon its specific

Page 21

nature and its impact on the site and the surrounding area rather than on its capacity. Whilst
the applicant has stated that their business operation often uses farms as transfer sites,
Copped Hall Farm has particular sensitivities in its location; in its proximity to a cluster of
residential receptors, its proximity to other receptors using the Public Right of Way network,
and its existing baseline noise as an equestrian business rather than intensive working farm.
1.44

Therefore, taking into consideration all the new evidence received and on the matters raised
in representations, the recommendation to refuse planning permission remains as previous.

2.

RECOMMENDATION

2.1

To refuse planning permission, for the following reason:
1.

The proposed development, by reason of its scale and location, would result in an
intensity of activity, traffic and noise which would detract from the intrinsic character
and ambience of its rural surroundings as well as compromise the amenities of
surrounding residential occupiers, contrary to policies 10, 24, 25, 26, 32, and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework which, amongst other things, seek to
protect the countryside against development of an inappropriate scale that leads to a
significant increase in the overall level of activity in the countryside. For these same
reasons it would also be contrary to Waste Local Plan Policies W11, W12 and W19.

Page 22

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT

TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development

DATE:

16 March 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Change of use of land to bailing and storage of agricultural plastics for
subsequent despatch and recycling

SITE:

Copped Hall Farm Okehurst Lane Billingshurst

WARD:

Billingshurst

APPLICATION:

DC/20/0854

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs L Dace Address: C/O Agent

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than 8 letters of representation have been
received within the consultation period which
have raised material considerations contrary to
the recommendation of the Head of Development
RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To refuse planning permission for the reasons set out in this report

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

Retrospective planning permission is sought for the bailing and storage of agricultural
plastics for subsequent despatch and recycling at Copped Hall Farm, Billingshurst. This is
essentially waste transfer, as the site would deal with waste imported from members of the
Farm XS scheme, baled on site and moved on. The Farm XS Scheme is designed and used
by farming, equestrian and horticultural businesses who have used plastic waste to send for
recycling. Members of the scheme either deliver their waste to the local Farm XS Collector
in appropriate bags or arrange for Farm XS to collect it. Farm XS covers southern England.

1.2

Agricultural plastic waste material would be imported into the site by vehicles (either
delivered or collected by the waste operator) and unloaded onto an existing hard surface
where it would be stored into stockpiles. The material would then be sent to recycling
facilities, while unsuitable items would be exported for recovery or disposal. The material
would have been pre-sorted before arrival at site. The material arrives on site either in a
dumpy bag or bundled up. Upon delivery, the material would be inspected by the site owners
and not properly sorted plastic declined. No processing and/or recycling would take place on
site. The material will be stockpiled outside on the hard surface. Baling of this material will

Contact Officer: Matthew Porter

Page 23

Tel: 01403 215561

occur up to 8 days annually, and would involve a lorry mounted industrial baler that will visit
the site twice annually.
1.3

In March 2020 complaints were received of unauthorised activity on the site involving waste
import, including baling that took place between 22nd – 24th March. The Council’s Planning
Compliance team investigated and advised the site owners that a planning breach had
occurred. The activity ceased and has not since restarted. The Council then received this
planning application for a material change of planning use.

1.4

Through negotiations, how the business would operate has been subject to amendment by
the waste operator and site owners in response to issues raised by consultees and those
who have submitted representations. The details below reflect the latest information provided
by the waste operator, in January 2021.

1.5

Submitted plans show how the hard surface will be divided up into functional areas
associated with the waste storage use and the existing equestrian yard. An area of 24 square
metres of baled storage will be located against the southern end of the hard surface area. It
is expected that bales would be stacked no more than two bales high. An area of 150 square
metres of bagged plastic stored prior to baling will be located to the west edge of the hard
surface, with bags stored no higher than 2.5 metres. A hedge will be planted along the west
edge of the hard surface with an intent to eventually screen both the bales and bags. Existing
equine vehicle parking will be relocated to the north end of the hard surface, against the flank
of the existing barn building.

1.6

The proposed hours of operation are Monday to Friday 8am to 6pm and 8am and 1pm on
Saturdays. Within those operating hours, baling and plastic deliveries will occur between
8am and 7pm of the same day. Baling of material will occur up to 8 days annually. The waste
operator also seeks hours to allow for occasional use of the site to service and maintain
equipment.

1.7

All deliveries are by prior appointment at an agreed time. Spread across the entire year, the
waste operator expects 65 deliveries/collections (130 movements). However, given the
nature of the waste imported (farm plastics) there will be seasonal peaks in delivery of waste
to the site. The waste operator advises that at the full proposed capacity, the development
would result in an average of approximately 15 deliveries per week (30 movements in total).
The waste operator assumes up to 8 days baling at 20 bales per day and 30 bales per lorry
load, which equates to 6 lorry loads (12 lorry movements per year) There will be additional
vehicle movements of the baler in those 8 days annually (4 movements) and 6 staff vehicles
(12 movements over a year).

1.8

Potentially, the worst case scenario is that full proposed capacity deliveries and the baling
operation occur simultaneously, giving rise to close to 58 movements at the same time. This
would be akin to the March 2020 event where both activities took place over a two and half
day period, in advance of the Covid lockdown.

1.9

Proposals involving waste are typically considered a County Matter, for which the relevant
planning authority would be West Sussex County Council. Nonetheless, the District Council
can determine such applications. The key waste policy considerations that should be taken
into account are within the WSCC Waste Local Plan (2014): Policies W1 (Need) and W3
(Location of Built Waste Management Facilities). The decision maker must also be satisfied
that the proposal accords with the general Development Management Policies W11-W23,
and all other material considerations.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.10

The application site, Copped Hall Farm Billingshurst, is situated within a cluster of buildings
located on the south side of Okehurst Lane. These buildings are either in domestic

Page 24

occupation with associated curtilages or functional to the equestrian yard operated on the
site. This cluster includes Copped Hall, Copped Hall Barn and Okehurst House. The site
itself is an area of hard surfacing (a mix of concrete, compacted material) and existing asphalt
driveway to its junction with Okehurst Lane.
1.11

Access to the site is via an existing asphalt road from Oakhurst Lane serving the land in the
applicant’s ownership. It includes a bellmouth that would be maintained in its current form.
Within the site, the hard surface parking is used for both deliveries and staff vehicles.

1.12

Okehurst Lane is a publicly maintained, unclassified road subject to national speed limit, with
mostly sporadic development along its length. The surrounding landscape is rural, largely
informal open fields, with agricultural land and woodland between Billingshurst to the southeast and Five Oaks to the north-east.

1.13

The application site is not located within any defined Built up Area and is therefore located
in countryside (the closest Built up Area Boundary is Billingshurst, some 2.2 km to the
northwest). The site is not allocated for waste management facility uses in the West Sussex
Waste Local Plan (2014).

1.14

The site is in close proximity to the Grade II Listed Copped Hall, located to the east. A Public
Right of Way (PRoW footpath 1336) runs the other side of Okehurst House to the west, with
access to surrounding countryside via the wider PRoW network. The site is not within an
identified flood risk zone and not within an area designated for landscape, heritage or
ecological reasons.

1.15

The site falls within The Mens SAC Bat Sustenance Zone (HDPF Policy 31). The underlying
site geology is brick clay. Coppedhall Hanger SSSI, part of a larger parcel of Ancient
woodland, is northwest of the site.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
National Planning Policy for Waste (October 2014)
West Sussex Waste Local Plan (April 2014)
Policy W1: Need for Waste Management Facilities
Policy W3: Location of Built Waste Management Facilities
Policy W11: Character
Policy W12: High Quality Developments
Policy W13: Protected Landscapes
Policy W14: Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy W15: Historic Environment
Policy W16: Air, Soil and Water
Policy W17: Flooding
Policy W18: Transport
Policy W19: Public Health and Amenity
Policy W21: Cumulative Impact
Policy W22: Aviation
Policy W23: Waste Management within Development

Page 25

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 – Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 10 – Rural Economic Development
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
West Sussex Joint Minerals Local Plan (2018)
National Planning Practice Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance: None
2.4

RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
The Parish of Billingshurst was designated as a Neighbourhood Development Area in
December 2015. To date however there is no ‘made’ neighbourhood plan for the Parish.

2.5

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/07/1426
Change of use of land and buildings for race horse training/breeding and retention of 1 bed
stable lads dwelling
Permitted 19-09-2007
DC/08/2110
Sandschool
Permitted 10-12-2008
DC/09/0982
Erection of single-storey replacement racing stables manager’s 3 x bed dwelling
Permitted 04-11-2009
DC/12/0155
Single storey 3 bedroom dwelling to replace approved planning permission ref DC/09/0982
Permitted 31-05-2012
DC/13/1001
Two storey 4 bedroom dwelling to replace approved dwelling under DC/12/0155
Permitted 22-07-2013
DC/19/1257
Conversion of existing outbuilding to a single storey detached dwelling with the removal of
existing lean-to to rear
Refused 16-08-2019
Appeal ALLOWED

Page 26

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk.
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Planning Compliance: Complaint Closed. Operation ceased and application
submitted. Burning on site reported to Environmental Health.

3.3

HDC Conservation: No Objection.

3.4

HDC Environmental Protection: No Objection
The impacts of the development as proposed can be managed subject to conditions on the
matters set out below
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Hours of operation to be limited to 08:00-1800 on weekdays and 08:00 13:00 hours
on Saturdays with no deliveries on Sundays or bank holidays
Number of vehicle movements to limited to no more than 15 deliveries per week (30
movements in total).
Log of deliveries and type of recyclable plastics to be kept and made available for
inspection.
No sorting or treating of plastics or other wastes to be carried out at the site
Baling operations to be carried for no more than 6 days in any calendar year
Only bagged recyclable agricultural plastic to be accepted and stored at the site.
Area used for storing plastics to be clearly defined on annotated site plan. Plastics
to be stored in bags within the defined area only.
No exterior lighting to be installed

It is important to note that the plastic waste will be stored under the terms allowed by a T4
Waste Exemption not an Environmental Permit. The T4 waste exemption allows up to 500
tonnes of plastics to be stored at any one time.
Remain concerned the prospect of any future intensification of the use above the level of
waste activity proposed in the current application. It is unlikely any expansion of the
recycling scheme could be accommodated at the site without causing significant impact on
the amenity of neighbouring occupiers or affecting the character of the locality.
3.5

HDC Landscapes: No Objection
Although the harm arising is not considered to have an impact on the wider landscape,
some localised harm is expected and the level of harm experienced will be subject to
maximum storage height and orderly nature of the storage piles/rows. To help mitigate
some of the visual harm experienced form the public footpath, additional hedge planting is
required along the western boundary.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.6

Environment Agency: No Objection

3.7

WSCC Minerals and Waste: No Objection, subject to required information submitted
and need for the facility sufficiently demonstrated.

3.8

WSCC Highways: No Objection Do not consider this would have an unacceptable impact
on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on highway network, therefore
not contrary to NPPF (paragraph 109), and no transport grounds to resist.

Page 27

3.9

WSCC Rights of Way: Advice. Does not directly affect PRoW.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.10

Parish Council: Billingshurst Parish Council has submitted a strong objection, for the
following reasons:






Potential contamination risks from hazardous waste stored on site.
Inaccuracies/absence of clarity on application form and description (related to
existing use, hours of use, processing of waste).
Potential conflict for users of Okehurst Lane with increased vehicle
movements in the location including HGVs, proximity of the proposal to
residential dwellings, visual impact from nearby footpath, noise nuisance and risk
from fire.
Close proximity to Grade II Listed Building.
An independent noise assessment should be undertaken.

Representations:
3.11

17 in support received, 14 of which are from farm operators across Surrey and West Sussex,
raising the following:Important and needed agricultural environmental operation, for traceable storage of farm
waste plastics, which is a legal requirement for all farmers. Farm XS have a long standing
and reputable name in safe, secure and traceable storage. Very few collection/drop off sites
available and expensive sites, such as industrial estates, cannot be afforded. Without this
outlet, could lead to fly tipping, burial or burning. All plastic waste taken is already washed
and clean. No hazardous materials are stored. Waste plastic is only stored for collection, not
processed there, so should not affect any neighbouring property or land with leeching or
odour.

3.12

18 Objections received, raising the following:Principle and need
Industrial use not suitable in a rural and residential environment and more suitable sites/
industrial locations in area. Application is disingenuous and plays down scale of operation
- would result in bigger operation than applied for. Not used as farm since 2000. Fails
NPPF and local plan policies/criteria.
Trip generation and traffic movements
Misleading on frequency of bailing and despatch operations. When operating for less than
a month, higher level of traffic and bailing occurred
Highway Access and Capacity, Highway Safety
Poor access. Road network would be unable to cope and unsafe with increased vehicle
movements; Okehurst Lane used by horse riders, cyclists, and pedestrians, with width
and weight restrictions, blind corners, and limited passing places. Dangerous junctions onto
A29 and A272 from Rowner Road.
Amenity and Noise
Before stopping, plastic stored in different areas, including up against neighbour’s
garden boundaries and piled over 6ft high. Noise and disturbance from bailing and
telehandler; bailing occurred over weekend 22 March at 06.30am until 7pm and resumed
23 march 6.30am, finishing at 7pm, and started again 24 March. Fire and pollution
risks.
Toxic emissions from waste. Not low key and if this volume of plastic delivered in one
month of business starting without permission, envisage business will grow immensely
over time. No silent running of the baler.

Page 28

Visual Impact, PRoW, Heritage Assets, and Drainage
Harmful visually, to users of Public Right of Way, and to Copped Hall and Minstrels Wood
(both Grade II Listed). No existing impervious hard standing to avoid leeching into ground
and watercourses.
4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The main material considerations in relation to this application are the:




whether the proposal would be acceptable in principle in this location, having regard
to need and local and national planning policy;
the effects of the proposal on the rural character and appearance of the area,
including impact upon heritage assets Principle (need and location) of the
development; and
the effects of the proposal to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers, with
particular regard to activity, traffic and noise.

Principle - need and location
6.2

The application site is located outside of recognised settlements which are the focus for
development in HDPF policies 2 and 3. As such, in planning policy terms, it is in the
countryside. The site is not allocated for waste management uses either in the HDPF or West
Sussex Waste Local Plan (2014) (the WLP), or a neighbourhood plan.

6.3

HDPF Policy 26 (Countryside Protection) seeks to protect the intrinsic rural character and
undeveloped nature of the countryside against inappropriate development. It requires
sustainable development in the countryside to be of a scale appropriate to its character and
location which does not lead to a significant increase in activity, with key landscape features
and characteristics protected. Any proposal in the countryside must be essential to tis
countryside location.

6.4

Policy W1 of the West Sussex Waste Local Plan (2014) deals with the need for waste
management facilities on unallocated sites. It supports facilities on unallocated sites where
there is a demonstrated market need, consistent with the principle of net self-sufficiency. The
most recent Annual Monitoring Report for the WLP indicates there is a continued and
increasing demand in the County, which this development could help to address. The
development would promote the movement of waste up the waste hierarchy.

6.5

With regard to Policy W1, the waste operator states that the waste stored on site arises from
farms, of which they have witnessed a market need, and for which they state nearby
facilities do not specifically provide for. The waste operator further states that due to its
geographical location, the site is well-located to serve waste collections within
short
travel distances.

Page 29

6.6

Farm XS has an established client base in the Sussex Area. As of Jan 2021, this consisted
of 44 members. Of these, 25 are based in Horsham District. By nearest town, Horsham and
Billingshurst ranked highest for member distribution (10 and 9 members respectively) with
an additional 3 members in Pulborough, 2 in Henfield, and 1 in Steyning. A further 7 members
are based in West Sussex (Petworth 3, Arundel 1, Hassocks 1, Worthing 1, Haywards Heath
1). Remaining 12 members are based in East Sussex and Surrey.

6.7

As the site is not allocated for waste uses, the proposal must be assessed against Policy W3
of the WLP, which sets out criteria for locating waste facilities on unallocated sites. With
regard to W3, the site is within a countryside location. However, it would be located on an
established area of hardstanding within an existing yard, and as such could be considered
as previously developed land. The site is located centrally within the County, with access,
via the Lorry Route network (some 1km to the east - A264), to the wider countryside which
is an obvious source of farm waste. Given the scale of the facility and noting it would be
dedicated to farm clients, it unlikely that the development could be delivered on either a site
allocated within the WLP, or an existing waste facility. The site is also within the identified
‘Area of Search’.

6.8

The NPPF (2019) recognises the need to protect the inherent qualities of the countryside,
but it also expects decision-makers to be proactive in supporting development to deliver the
jobs and infrastructure that local communities need. Aligned to this, in the countryside, HDPF
Policy 10 encourages proposals in principle for rural economic development which maintain
the quality and character of the area.
Summary on need and location

6.9

In summary on these matters, the Waste Local Plan (2014) acknowledges that whilst
progress has been made on the provision of new and more sustainable facilities, there
remains a need for further new facilities for the recycling of waste, and your officers consider
a local need has been sufficiently demonstrated for this particular proposal.

6.10

Nonetheless, the acceptability of any proposal will depend upon its specific nature and its
impact on the site and the surrounding area rather than on its capacity. The applicant has
not demonstrated that the application site is the only option for this new facility. Account
should be taken of the character of the area in which the proposal is located. There may be
better sites that would be more appropriate and have less of an impact. The scale,
appearance, and level of activity of waste development can mean that there is likely to be an
adverse impact on the character of the area.

6.11

With regard to this particular proposal, it is considered that adverse impact to be contrary to
HDPF Policy 26 and WLP W11 due to its detrimental impact on amenity of residents and its
impact on the tranquillity this countryside location, as outlined below.
Landscape Character and Visual Impact

6.12

Horsham District Council recognises the value of its surrounding countryside, and the
importance and influence this has on the character of the District as a whole.

6.13

However, existing buildings cover a large proportion of the site and the parts of the site that
are visible are currently used for storage of trailers and horseboxes that can be easily seen
from outside the site from the public footpath that runs the other side of Okehurst House to
the west of the site. The site therefore appears developed from the rural and relatively
undeveloped character of the surrounding area.

6.14

Given the open-air nature of the proposed activities and required stockpiles of materials, and
associated paraphernalia, there would, inevitability, and especially during busy events, be a
visual and character change to any remaining rural character of the site.

Page 30

6.15

However, in terms of visual impacts, in order to ensure that any stockpile would not give rise
to unacceptable visual impacts, conditions are proposed to limit their location, extent, and
height. Any views of the stockpiles from public vantage point would be of a transient manner
and when viewed from private residences, within the context of the other nearby buildings,
land uses and activities. The development has retained the field boundaries to the
hardstanding, to which all operational activities would be confined too.

6.16

For these reasons, the Council’s Landscape Architect finds the site and area reflect only
some local landscape characteristics, and that the proposal would have an
acceptable effect with regard to visual appearance.

6.17

Notwithstanding this, it is considered that that the development would significantly increase
the overall level of activity on site, and this intensity of use would result in a harmful effect on
the locality’s rural character and tranquillity.

6.18

With this proposal, the level of occupation and activity would be very noticeably greater.
This is demonstrated in the potential number of movements of waste deliveries /export of
materials, but also in the potential of the development to give rise to noise, light and
dust impacts associated with the sorting and grading of the waste.

6.19

The site locality has a notably rural character. Tranquillity and quiet rural character are
important qualities identified and praised by local residents. These attributes would also be
apparent to users of the extensive network of public rights of way in the immediate
vicinity of the site. The site is directly adjacent to residential dwellings. Despite the ambient
noise levels of the equestrian yard during the day (including potential servicing and
maintenance of trailers, horseboxes, and machinery), this degree of activity and its
physical presence does not justify additional development of a separate operation
on the same site. To the contrary, containing and maintaining quiet rural character
assumes greater importance to safeguard in accordance with HDPF Policies 26 and 33.

6.20

As the experience of March 2020 demonstrate, unrestricted, the development resulted in
unacceptable harm to the tranquillity of the countryside, in conflict with HDPF Policies 24,
26 and 33. Policy 32 was also not achieved.

6.21

The area of the component uses and the total number of movements and associated site
activity are important to ensuring an acceptable scale of development, appropriate to its
countryside character and location in accordance with Policy 26.

6.22

Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would cause unacceptable harm
to the character of the countryside. Accordingly, the proposal would conflict in this respect
with HDPF Policy 26 which seeks to protect the rural character and undeveloped nature of
the countryside against inappropriate development. It would also conflict with HDPF Policies
25, 32 and 33 which, in combination and amongst other things, seek to protect landscape
and townscape character and require high quality design that complements locally distinctive
character.
Heritage

6.23

Listed Buildings are around Okehurst Lane. The nearest is Grade II Listed Copped Hall,
north-east of the site. The site is considered within the setting of Copped Hall. However,
inter-visibility is limited physically and perceptually by intervening boundary treatment,
vegetation and other buildings (including the recently converted Copped Hall Barn).

6.24

As such, the impact upon the significance of the setting of Copped Hall and other heritage
assets would accord with statutory tests and national and local plan policy, including HDPF
34 and WLP Policy W15. These tests and relevant policy are set out below.

Page 31

6.25

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF sets out that 'When considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given
to the asset's conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.
Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or
development within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should
require clear and convincing justification.'

6.26

This follows the requirements of s.66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990, which sets out that 'In considering whether to grant planning permission for
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as
the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses.'. In applying s.66, the identification of harm to a listed building or its
setting carries significant importance and weight in the planning balance.

6.27

Policy 34 of the HDPF states that development should be reinforce the special character of
the historic environment through appropriate siting, scale, form and design; and should make
a positive contribution to the character and distinctiveness of the area. Proposals should
preserve and ensure clear legibility of locally distinctive vernacular building forms and their
settings, features, fabric and materials. Similar heritage tests apply under WLP Policy W15.
Environmental Protection and Amenity

6.28

The events that took place in March 2020 resulted in adverse effects on the living conditions
of residents in the area. Following complaints, the Council’s compliance team took
appropriate action and investigated. This application was submitted in response to the
Council notifying the site owners of a planning breach.

6.29

The development applied for now is not the same as March 2020, and the operational
aspects of the development have been further amended through negotiation between your
officers and the waste operator and site owners.

6.30

HDPF Policy 24 expects development to minimise exposure to and the emission of pollutants
including noise, whilst policy 33 requires development to be designed to avoid unacceptable
harm to the amenity of occupiers/users of nearby property and land.

6.31

Given the close proximity of the site to residential properties, it is necessary to ensure that
the storage areas are located away from these sensitive receptors due to the potential impact
of noise and disturbance associated with manoeuvring of vehicles and loading/unloading of
waste. The submitted details propose to limit the areas of the site that can be used for outside
storage, away from residential dwellings and their gardens.

6.32

Following detailed negotiations with the waste operator, the Council’s Environmental
Protection Officer has concluded that the associated pollutant disturbance from the site could
be managed through a suite of planning conditions, as well as separate legislative controls.
These include, amongst a series of mitigation measures, controls over operational practices
and hours of working. The development would also have to comply with the Environment
Agency T4 Waste Exemption (not an Environmental Permit), which, in consultation,
has not objected. The T4 waste exemption allows up to 500
tonnes of plastics to be
stored at any one time for preparatory treatments, such as bailing and sorting.
This
demonstrates compliance with WLP Policy 16: Air, Soil, and Water.

6.33

It is therefore judged that, subject to the imposing of the full suite of conditions necessary
and reasonable to limit pollutant disturbance as advised by consultees, there would be
technical compliance with Environmental Health standards and good practice. The issue of

Page 32

fire safety working practices raised by third party objectors is a matter dealt under legislative
controls separate to planning.
6.34

Notwithstanding this, it is considered that the development would significantly increase the
overall level of activity on site, and this intensity of use would result in a harmful effect on the
locality’s rural character and tranquillity. The basic layout currently consists of a hard surface
area with a low level of use.

6.35

With this proposal, the level of occupation and activity would be very noticeably greater, to
the detriment of the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers. This is demonstrated in the
potential number of movements of waste deliveries /export of materials, but also in the
potential of the development to give rise to noise, light and dust impacts associated with the
sorting and grading of the waste.

6.36

Tranquillity and quiet rural character are important qualities identified and praised by local
residents. The site is directly adjacent to residential dwellings. Despite the ambient noise
levels of the equestrian yard during the day (including potential servicing and maintenance
of trailers, horseboxes, and machinery), this degree of activity and its physical presence
does not justify additional development of a separate operation on the same site.

6.37

As the experiences of March 2020 testify, unrestricted, the development resulted in harm of
an unacceptable nature to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers, in conflict with
HDPF Policies 24, 26 and 33.

6.38

In the absence of a noise assessment it has not been demonstrated that simply moving the
storage further away from neighbours would be sufficient to mitigate the noise impacts of the
proposal. There is no indication that specific acoustic measures could be relied upon to
provide any significant sound attenuation.

6.39

The area of the component uses and the total number of movements and associated site
activity are important to ensuring an acceptable scale of development, appropriate to its
countryside character and location in accordance with Policy 26.

6.40

It is significant that whilst accepting of the precise operational aspects of the business model
applied for, the Council’s Environmental Protection officer remains concerned of the prospect
of any future intensification of the use above the level of waste activity proposed in the
current application. It is unlikely any expansion of the recycling scheme could be
accommodated at the site without causing significant impact on the amenity of neighbouring
occupiers or affecting the character of the locality.

6.41

This is a planning consideration of significant weight. The division of the hard surface into
precise functional areas with limitations on heights of stockpiled materials acts to prohibit the
future expansion of the waste operation to some degree. However, it is not enforceable to
impose a planning condition that limits the number of vehicle
movements associated
with the operation.

6.42

For all these reasons, your planning officers remain of the opinion that unacceptable harm
to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers would result from this development, even
as amended, such that the imposing of conditions would not be sufficient to overcome, and
so prevent full compliance with HDPF Policies 24, 26, 32, and 33. Equally, it would not be
compliant with WLP Policy 19: Public Health and Amenity.
Highway Matters

6.43

WLP policy W18 and HDPF Policy 40 state the need for sustainable transport and safe
access is vital for development to be acceptable. HDPF Policy 41 states adequate parking
facilities must be provided to meet the needs of the anticipated users.

Page 33

Capacity and Safety
6.44

The Local Highway Authority, WSCC, has carefully assessed the impact of the development.
In their view, the existing site access from Oakhurst Lane can safely accommodate the type
and volume of movements likely to result from the development, individually and cumulatively
with movements from the established equestrian yard.

6.45

In their view also, the scale of the development, and the frequency of activity, and the
sufficient space for parking and turning within the site means they do not consider that the
proposal would have a ‘severe’ impact on the capacity and safe operation of the nearby road
network and have advised that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposals.

6.46

In reaching these conclusions, WSCC has carefully considered the points raised by third
party objectors, including the facts that the term HGV covers a range of vehicles, and that
Oakehurst Lane already serves residential properties and equestrian yards. It also
accounted for the fact that there are few passing places along the lane and that the lane is
used by other road users, including horse riders.

6.47

In having consideration of these matters, it is also recognised that the existing use of the site
must already generate movements by trailers and horseboxes along the lane, including
larger horseboxes which may be classed as small HGVs. It is accepted that the waste
storage use would result in an increase in large HGVS entering and existing the site and
using the lane. However, the LHA does not consider it necessary to restrict the types of
vehicle accessing the site for this purpose (an approach, noted by third party objectors, as
having be adopted elsewhere along Oakhurst Lane).

6.48

WSCC have reasoned that Okehurst Lane is low trafficked and although it is subject to
national speed limit, due to the road geometry and the narrow nature of the rural lane, it is
not anticipated vehicles would be travelling at the posted speed limit in the site location. As
such, vehicular visibility onto the publicly maintained highway appears enough for the
anticipated road speeds.

6.49

Furthermore, an inspection of the data supplied to WSCC by Sussex Police over a period of
the last five years reveals that there have been no recorded injury accidents within the vicinity
of the junction. Therefore, there is no evidence to suggest that the existing access is
operating unsafely or that the addition of a waste storage use of the nature and scale
proposed would exacerbate any existing safety concerns.
Public Rights of Way (PRoW)

6.50

The site access from Oakhurst Lane is shared with a public footpath (PRoW). West Sussex
Public Rights of Way raise no objection to the development. Shared access arrangements
with public footpaths are not uncommon, and fencing is in place to minimise the potential
conflict. As a result, the proposed development is not considered to give rise to any
unacceptable impact upon the PRoW.

6.51

Therefore, given the advice of the Local Highway Authority in respect of the application, it is
considered that the proposed development accords with HDPF Policy 40 and provides a safe
and suitable access.
Parking and turning

6.52

Based on the layout there is sufficient space to allow for parking and turning within the site
for both the waste storage operation and the equestrian yard; each benefitting from its own
dedicated area to park, turn on site, and exit in forward gear. The LHA raises no concerns
over parking provision.

Page 34

6.53

No cycle parking or electric car charging is proposed. However, this is a reflection of the
location of the site and the nature of the development and considered acceptable in this
particular instance.
Summary on Highway Matters

6.54

The concerns raised on highway matters by third parties is acknowledged. However, the
development has been assessed by the qualified highway specialists and not found wanting.

6.55

It has not been demonstrated by substantive evidence that restrictions and limitations on
vehicle types and movements using the site access, as advocated by third parties, are
necessary for the proposed use to operate without harm to local highway network capacity
or safety. Additionally the proposal without those conditions, would provide safe and suitable
access.

6.56

Therefore, the proposal is judged by the Local Planning Authority, informed by the expert
consultation response from the Local Highway Authority, to be in accordance with HDPF
Policy 40 and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Other Environmental Issues
Drainage and Climate Change

6.57

The site is in the lowest EA flood risk zone. The existing hardstanding would be maintained,
and the site owners are to rely on existing foul drainage. Consequently, there is no
substantive evidence that the proposal necessitates further drainage provision.

6.58

The proposed development is for waste recycling so would contribute toward mitigating the
impacts of climate change as required by HDPF policies 35, 36 and 37.
Conclusions and Planning Balance

6.59

The development would meet an identified need, contribute toward managing waste within
the County, and promote the movement of waste up the hierarchy. These are social and
environmental benefits that weigh favourably for the proposal. However, it should be
noted, it has not been demonstrated as to whether there is a more suitable location for this
use nearby which would not result in a detrimental impact and harm to countryside;
Ultimately, the acceptability of the proposal will depend upon its specific nature and its
impact on the site and the surrounding area rather than on its capacity.

6.60

It is important to recognise that the rural character of the district means that the wider rural
economy is also important. The development would support the economics of land based
businesses, to support the meeting of a rural community need. As a consequence, the
proposal aligns with the part of the HDPF which supports sustainable rural economic growth
in the district. These economic benefits also weigh in favour for the proposal.

6.61

However local plan policy HDPF Policy 26 (Countryside Protection) and Waste Local Plan
Policy W11 (Character) both seek to protect the intrinsic rural character and undeveloped
nature of the countryside. Policy 26 requires sustainable development in the countryside to
be of a scale appropriate to its rural character and location which does not lead to a significant
increase in activity. Also HDPF Policy 10 encouragement is caveated to proposals which
maintain the quality and character of the area. The scale and level of activity of the proposed
waste development would give rise to an adverse impact on the character of the countryside.
Account should be taken of the character of the area in which the proposal is located.

Page 35

6.62

Whilst the Council’s Environmental Health officer believes operational aspects of the
development have been sufficiently amended to ensure appropriate mitigation can be
managed by planning condition, this indicates a lack of harm rather than a benefit and so is
given neutral weight. The same neutral weight is given to the lack of objection from the Local
Highway and Waste Authorities, as well as compliance with statutory tests and relevant
planning policy in regard to heritage assets.

6.63

In balancing the above considerations, whilst the proposal would result in social and
economic benefits associated with waste management and business growth, these benefits
do not outweigh the harm identified.

6.64

Therefore, the proposal would conflict with the development plan when taken as a whole and
there are no material considerations that would justify a decision other than in accordance
with the development plan. It would not be possible to overcome the harm identified through
consideration of further conditions. It is therefore concluded that the application should be
refused.
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

6.65

Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule, which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development does not constitute CIL liable development.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Application Refused
Reason for Refusal:
1.

The proposed development, by reason of its scale and location, would result in an
intensity of activity, traffic and noise which would detract from the intrinsic character
and ambience of its rural surroundings as well as compromise the amenities of
surrounding residential occupiers, contrary to policies 10, 24, 25, 26, 32, and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework which, amongst other things, seek to
protect the countryside against development of an inappropriate scale that leads to
a significant increase in the overall level of activity in the countryside. For these same
reasons it would also be contrary to Waste Local Plan Policies W11, W12 and W19.

Background Papers: DC/20/0854

Page 36

06) DC/20/0854
Copped Hall Farm, Okehurst Lane, Billingshurst

ge
r

¯

Co
pp
ed

ha
l

lH

an

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

Copped House

32.5m
Pond

Issues
Copped
Hall
Barn

FB
2 1
Copped Hall Farm
Cottages

Pond
Copped Hall

Pond

Okehurst
House

Tra
ck

Copped
Hall
Farm

Drai
n

Pond

Ponds

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

05/08/2021

Page 37MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

ADDENDUM
Planning Committee South: 17 August 2021
AGENDA ITEM 6 - DC/20/0854
Copped Hall Farm, Okehurst Lane, Billinghurst
Additional Representation
Since the committee report was published, further representation has been received:





Ashurst LLP (on behalf of an objector) dated 10 August 2021, which details continued
concern with how certain matters have been assessed (Previously Developed Land; Need
and Location; Amenity; Trip Generation; Heritage)
A further review by Stantec Acoustic (on behalf of an objector) dated 09 August of the
applicant’s EAS Ltd Response 27 July, which includes their own assessment based on the
information contained the EAS Noise Impact Assessment May 2021.
From the applicant, a response from EAS Ltd dated 12 August 2021 in reply to the Stantec
Acoustic Review dated 09 August.

Consultee comments on additional representation
WSCC Minerals and Waste Authority:
Offer no further comments as our points have been addressed in the officer’s report. When referring
to previously developed land, the Waste Local Plan suggests it should be “suitable” for the intended
use, taking into consideration the local planning constraints (including amenity etc.)
HDC Environmental Health:
The EAS assessment (on behalf of the applicant) was undertaken at an alternative site (Lane Farm,
Milwich Lane, Sandon) and then used these measurements to inform their noise modelling from the
proposed baling operation at Copped Hall Farm. This was considered as an acceptable approach
as outlined in the report.
The Stantec report has undertaken a BS4142 assessment from the proposed baling operations at
Copped Hall Farm using the EAS data. The Environmental Health Officer has commented that, as
evident in the tables below, the results of the two approaches are not that dissimilar.
In summary:
Copped Hall Barn
Copped Hall
Okehurst House
Farm Cottages

EAS LAEQ
48.3
51
44.4
47.4

Stantec LAEQ
35
51
31
47

The principal noise issues are:-

Page 39



Noise from deliveries of plastic waste



Noise from the telehandler/forklift used to handle the waste



Noise from the baling of waste undertaken on a limited number of days in each year.

It remains the view of the Environmental Health Officer that these matters can be adequately
controlled by conditions.
Billinghurst Neighbourhood Plan ‘Made’ and Revised NPPF (July 2021)
Billinghurst Neighbourhood Plan
The Billinghurst Neighbourhood Plan (2019-2031) was formally made at Full Council on 23 June
2021. Its policies now form part of the Development Plan. Policy Bill 1: Billinghurst Built-Up Area
Boundary sets out that development proposals outside the proposed built-up area boundary will only
be supported where it is in accordance with the development plan on appropriate uses in the
countryside.
Revised NPPF (July 2021)
The revised National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPFF’) came into force on 20 July 2021. A
new NPPF paragraph reference is noted on the item; at para 6.25, the March Committee report
references para 193 of the NPPF. This is now para 199 of the NPPF July Revision.
Officer comment:
The policies of the ‘Made’ Billinghurst Neighbourhood Plan and Revised NPPF do not contain any
material changes that alters the recommendation set out in this agenda item.
Further representations: Your Officers note the content of the additional representation received by
both the applicants and the objectors.
The further Stantec Review 09 August continues to raise issue with EAS Ltd assessment
methodology. The Stantec report has undertaken a BS4142 assessment from the proposed baling
operations at Copped Hall Farm using the EAS Ltd data. This indicates that noise from the proposed
bailing operations may have a significant adverse impact on the noise sensitive receptors at Copped
Hall and Farm Cottages, subject to context.
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has compared the objector’s assessment (Stantec
Acoustic) with that of the applicant’s (ESA Ltd). He does not dispute the Stantec report findings and
the way their assessment was made. However, he also notes noise from the bailing operations
would be limited to 8 days a year and on days when bailing operations are undertaken the noise
levels at the identified receptors will remain below the WHO criteria for annoyance in outdoor
amenity spaces. His view is that restrictions could be applied to meet Environmental Health
standards.
As your planning Officers have set out in the Committee Report, certain restrictions proposed by the
Council’s Environmental Health officer to meet Environmental Health Standards are not enforceable
as planning conditions. This includes controlling vehicle movements off site. As demonstrated by
the Stantec Review 09 August, bailing operations may have a significant impact on the noise
sensitive receptors at Copped Hall and Farm Cottages, although it is noted by the Council’s
Environmental Health officer that noise levels would be below WHO criteria for annoyance.
Nonetheless, this is evidence of a negative change in the rural ambience and harm to character, as
identified by your planning officers.
The Minerals and Waste Authority has confirmed the Committee Report has addressed their points.
That Authority notes the Waste Local Plan suggests the appropriateness of a location, whether
previously developed land or not, is determinate by its “suitability” for the intended use, whereby

Page 40

local planning constraints should be taken into consideration (including amenity etc.). Your officers
have assessed the suitability of this site for the intended use, and do not consider it appropriate.
In regards to trip generation and heritage, your officers believe the Committee Report sets out an
appropriate assessment to these matters.

End

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

17 August 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Erection of a detached bungalow.

SITE:

Ashley House Roundabout Copse West Chiltington Pulborough West
Sussex RH20 2RN

WARD:

West Chiltington, Thakeham and Ashington

APPLICATION:

DC/21/1234

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs Hirsch Address: Ashley House Roundabout Copse
West Chiltington Pulborough West Sussex RH20 2RN

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

Full Planning Permission is sought for the construction of a single detached 3-bedroom
bungalow with an attached double garage and two car parking spaces. This follows the
previous grant of outline planning permission in March 2020 (DC/20/0157 reefers) for the
erection of a detached bungalow and new access with all matters reserved on the site.

1.2

The GIA of the new dwelling is to be 147 sq.m. The proposed 3m wide vehicular access point
is north of the dwelling providing a direct route to the parking spaces and garage with an
electrically operated 5-bar gate entrance to provide security.

1.3

The proposed bungalow is to have a traditional form with a plain-tiled pitched roof, multistock facing brick to the elevations and architectural detailing including a brick chimney,
stooled brick window sills, a brick detail band at low level and a feature oak porch. The
bungalow would have grey UPVC framed glazing and matching coloured UPVC gutters &
downpipes.

Contact Officer: Steve Astles

Page 43

Tel: 01403 215 174

1.4

The proposal includes refuse & recycling bins stored within the proposed double garage
alongside cycle parking also within the garage.

1.5

The proposed bungalow is in a similar location to the proposed dwelling granted previously
under the outline planning permission. The dwelling would be 1m further to the east to
provide a greater separation to Ashley House and the vehicular access driveway is now
proposed directly onto Roundabout Copse. Under the previous outline permission, the
proposed driveway shared the Ashley House entrance, and required the loss of a section of
existing garden hedgerow.

1.6

The application proposes the retention of the existing trees on the site, the only landscaping
proposed to be removed is the garden hedgerow at the vehicular access point and a
rhododendron bush within the site which is to be replanted within the Ashley House garden.
The proposed direct access from the north will result in the retention of more of the
landscaping to the north of Ashley House itself. All hedgerow to the eastern and southern
boundaries is to be retained and enhanced with additional shrubs where necessary. A new
1.8 metre high close-boarded fence is to be constructed on the newly formed western
boundary with Ashley House.

1.7

Hard landscaping is proposed to the front (north) of the bungalow in accordance with the
proposed SUDS strategy; the surfacing is to be permeable bonded gravel with an appropriate
sub-base. A crate soakaway of the appropriate size will be provided in the south-east corner
of the site 5 metres away from the bungalow to provide surface water attenuation.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.8

The application site occupies an area approx 0.1ha to the south and west of the Roundabout
Copse cul-de-sac, comprising of the easternmost element of the garden of Ashley House.
The site falls within the defined built-up area of West Chiltington, in an area of residential
character typified by detached dwellings of both single storey and two storey composition.
Surrounding dwellings incorporate pitched roofs with plain concrete tiling, with external faces
mainly composed of facing brick or white painted render. The surrounding plots vary in size
and layout, with no overall consistent grain of development or building line. Boundary
treatments in the immediate vicinity are mainly natural (hedging) or comprises of post-rail
fencing. The application site itself features a prominent Leylandii hedge (in excess of 3m) to
its northern boundary.

1.9

Roundabout Copse is a lightly trafficked and privately maintained cul-de-sac, possessing a
prevailing suburban character. The site, and its immediate surroundings, are not affected by
any heritage, archaeological, biodiversity or environmental designations.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion

Page 44

Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 30 - Protected Landscapes
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
The West Chiltington Neighbourhood Plan is in progress. West Chiltington Parish submitted
their Submission draft plan to Horsham District Council on 19 November 2018

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/20/0157

Outline application for the erection of a detached bungalow with all matters
reserved.
Application Permitted 24.03.2020

WC/44/89

Erection of 1 house & garage (outline)
Application Permitted 05.04.1990

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk

3.2

WSCC Highways: No Objection
The LHA does not consider that this proposal would have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway
network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 109
[now paragraph 111]), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.

3.3

Archaeology Consultant: No Objection
No historic environment objections

3.4

Southern Water: No Objection with advisories provided

3.5

Parish Comments: Objection
The Parish Council objects on the following grounds:
· The development would constitute infill which is out of character with the surrounding
properties
· It is too close to a neighbouring property
· It would be an overdevelopment of the site due to its sizing, massing and scale
· The application makes no reference to the biodiversity at the site
· It conflicts with HDPF Policies 31 (Lack of Biodiversity information), 32 and 33
· It also conflicts with West Chiltington's emerging Neighbourhood Plan

Page 45

3.6

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS:
Nine representations received Objecting to the application, on the basis of:
- Overdevelopment / Infill development
- Highways access – the new additional proposed access is dangerous at a narrow part of
the road on a blind spot
- Concern at the how construction vehicles and materials are to be accommodated during
the build and potential impact on access for emergency vehicles
- Archaeological concern
One neighbouring property representation received in Support of the application, on the
basis of:
- Design
- Highway Access and Parking. The proposed development will complement the other
properties in the road. Off-road parking is sufficient to prevent any obstruction of access to
other properties.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
The main considerations material to this application relate to:
- The principle of development;
- The impact of development on local character;
- The impact of development on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers;
Principle of Development:

6.1

Policy 1 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) (2015) provides that the
Council will work proactively with applicants to achieve development that secures socioeconomic and environmental benefits. Reflecting the presumption in favour of sustainable
development contained within the NPPF the Council will grant permission for development
that accords with the relevant policies of the development plan, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

6.2

Policies 3 and 4 of the HDPF outline the spatial strategy and hierarchy approach of the
development plan. This strategy seeks to concentrate development within defined built-up
areas and around the key settlements of the District. The application site in this regard falls
within the defined built up area boundary of West Chiltington Common. Policy 3 of the HDPF
provides that development, that maintains the defined settlement characteristics of its
respective setting, will be supported in principle.

Page 46

6.3

West Chiltington, under policy 3 of the HDPF, is defined as a ‘medium village’ possessing a
moderate level of services, facilities and community networks, together with some access to
public transport. Such settlements are capable of providing some day to day services to meet
the needs of residents, but rely upon larger settlement to meet a number of their
requirements.

6.4

The principle of a dwelling on the site has been established for the erection of a detached
bungalow following the approval of Planning Application DC/20/0157. Whilst this approval
assumed that the Ashley House driveway was to be re-used, this full Planning Application
proposes a new driveway and crossover onto Roundabout Copse.

6.5

The provision of a single dwelling is considered to represent a scale and nature of
development that would not materially influence the strategic settlement characteristics of
West Chiltington as defined under HDPF policy 3. The proposal, therefore, is in accordance
with the strategic spatial strategy and hierarchy approach of the Development Plan, with the
principle of development accepted in this instance, subject to assessment on all other
material grounds. While it is considered that limited weight could be assigned to the PreSubmission Draft policies of the West Chiltington Neighbourhood Plan, it is noted that Policy
EH1, mirrors the strategic approach of the Local Plan in respect to development located
within the built-up area boundary.
Character, Design and Appearance:

6.6

Policies 25 of the HDPF seeks to preserve the landscape character of the District, including
the landform, development pattern, together with protected landscapes and habitats.
Development will be required to protect, conserve and enhance landscape and townscape
character, taking account of areas or features identified as being of landscape importance,
individual settlement characteristics and settlement separation.

6.7

Policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF stipulate that new development should be of a high standard
of design and layout, with regard to natural and built surroundings, in terms of its scale,
density, massing, siting, orientation, views, character, materials and space between
buildings.

6.8

Outline approval was given in March 2020 and this application considered whether the plot
can, in principle, accommodate a detached bungalow. The existing Ashley House benefits
from a significant plot, measuring approximately 750m2 in area. The surrounding plots vary
in size and layout, with no overall consistent grain of development or building line.

6.9

The proposed single storey dwelling is designed in a sympathetic vernacular style, using
traditional materials to respond to its context of the established character of Roundabout
Copse in material and scale. The pitch of the roof on the bungalow has been designed to
limit ridge height whilst enabling a natural plain clay tile to be used.

6.10

The proposed location of the new dwelling is to be set behind significant existing planting on
Roundabout Copse, limiting views from Roundabout Copse. Given the proposed bungalow
is concordant in scale to the majority of the properties on Roundabout Copse, the dwelling
is considered in-keeping. The single storey scale has been considered in relation to the
adjacent properties, particularly those to the south, east and west, and the separation and
orientation of the proposal makes the proposed scale acceptable.

6.11

While a sense of separation does exist between buildings, further reinforced by natural
boundary treatments, it is considered that the dwelling proposed is appropriately sited, scaled
and designed with appropriate consideration to landscaping to maintain local character and
appearance.

Page 47

6.12

It is acknowledged that the proposed plot would occupy a lesser area than surrounding
dwellings, though, is not of a significantly reduced area comparative to the dwellings of
Reynards and Deerwood opposite the application site or to dwellings east of the application
site.

6.13

The plans provide a layout which would largely allow for retention of planting along site
boundaries and retain sufficient separation from site boundaries to prevent the development
appearing unduly cramped or prominent. While it is noted that the dwelling would occupy a
notable proportion of the proposed plot in terms of footprint, it is further noted that the dwelling
is of a single-storey composition and would largely maintain existing planting to the
boundaries of the site, except for the new access.

6.14

As highlighted within the response of the Parish Council, and neighbouring representations,
the proposed development does represent ‘infill’, though, it is not considered that this would
in and of itself prove determinative as to the impact of the development in respect of
character, design and visual amenity, and against policies 25, 32 and 33 of the HDPF.

6.15

It is considered that the proposed detached bungalow on the site is acceptable with reference
to the requirements of policies 25, 32 and 33 of the HDPF.
Impact on neighbouring amenity:

6.16

Paragraph 130(f) of the NPPF provides that planning policies and decisions should ensure
that developments inter alia create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible, promoting
health and well-being with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

6.17

Policy 33 of the HDPF inter alia requires development to be designed so as to avoid
unacceptable harm to the amenities of nearby occupiers/users of land.

6.18

The application site is located ~4.5m east of the easternmost extent of Ashley House, and
extends to the rear of the southern elevation of this dwelling. It is considered the layout and
scale of the proposed dwelling and boundary treatment ensure a relationship of inter-visibility
that would afford an adequate standard of privacy to both occupiers and natural light to the
occupiers of Ashley House. A reduction in the private amenity space available to Ashley
House would not be considered to compromise the availability of a reasonable remaining
extent of private amenity space available to neighbouring occupiers.

6.19

The site is some distance from the neighbouring dwellings of Oak Ridge, Reynards and
Deerswood and no harmful change in relationship would be anticipated to the detriment of
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers.

6.20

As reasoned above it is not considered that the site is disproportionately small to
accommodate the dwelling with adequate floorspace standards and with necessary private
amenity spaces. It is not considered that the proposal would fail to afford an adequate
standard of amenity to future occupants.

6.21

It is noted that representations were received that raise concern as to how construction
vehicles and materials are to be accommodated during the build and potential impact on
access along Roundabout Copse. It is recommended that a pre-commencement condition
should be applied to any approval to provide a Construction Method Statement to be
approved by the local planning authority detailing a proposed management plan for
construction vehicles, materials and waste.

Page 48

Parking, Highway Safety and Operation:
6.22

Policy 40 of the HDPF states that transport access and ease of movement is a key factor in
the performance of the local economy. The need for sustainable transport and safe access
is vital to improve development across the district.

6.23

Policy 41 of the HDPF stipulates that development must provide adequate parking and
facilities to meet the needs of anticipated users, with consideration given to the needs of
cycle parking, motorcycle parking and electric/low emission vehicles. Development which
involves the loss of existing parking spaces will only be allowed if suitable alternative
provision has been secured elsewhere or the need for development overrides the loss of
parking and where necessary measures are in place to mitigate against the impact.

6.24

The applicant proposes a new 3m wide vehicular access on Roundabout Copse. The Local
Highway Authority considers that there are no apparent visibility concerns with the proposed
point of access onto the privately maintained road. The LHA advises the applicant to contact
the proprietor of the privately maintained road, to obtain formal approval for the proposed
access works.

6.25

Access to the maintained highway is at Roundabout Lane. The LHA does not anticipate that
the addition of one dwelling would give rise to a material intensification of movements to or
from the site. An inspection of collision data provided to WSCC by Sussex Police from a
period of the last five years reveals no recorded injury accidents within the vicinity of the site.
Therefore, there is no evidence to suggest the proposal would exacerbate an existing safety
concern. Further, it Roundabout Copse is a low speed lightly trafficked road where there are
a number of other accesses on bends in a similar manner to this proposal. In the absence of
accident data elsewhere on this road there is no evidence that the location of the access
would make for an unsafe arrangement.

6.26

The applicant proposes four car parking spaces for this development, comprising of a doublecar garage and two parking bays. The WSCC Car Parking Demand Calculator indicates that
a dwelling of this size in this location would require three parking spaces. The LHA notes
that the proposed garage falls slightly short of the minimum internal specifications for double
car garages of 6m x 6m as set out in Manual for Streets (MfS). The garage as proposed has
approximate internal dimensions of 5.6m x 5.5m.

6.27

Notwithstanding the above, the LHA is satisfied that sufficient parking provision will be
available on-site. From inspection of the plans, there is space for on-site turning to be
achievable, allowing cars to exit the site in a forward gear. There is therefore unlikely to be
issues of overspill parking onto the street.

6.28

In order to promote sustainable modes of travel, though, it is deemed necessary to
recommend a condition requiring the submission of details pertaining to the provision of
covered/secure cycle parking in accordance with HDPF policy 41.
Ecology:

6.29

Policy 25 and 31 of the HDPF seek to protect the natural environment and landscape
character of the district. Protected habitats and species will be protected against
inappropriate development, and opportunities to enhance green infrastructure and
biodiversity will be encouraged

6.30

The application site concerns an area of domestic garden, with the majority of the application
site consisting of maintained lawn. There are no ecological designations contained within the
application site, or within the near to medium vicinity of the application site. The application
site, therefore, is not regarded as ecologically sensitive, and there is no evidence before the
Authority that this serves as a commuting or foraging habitat for protected species. The

Page 49

absence of pre-existing structures renders the site unlikely to host bats, with the majority of
substantial planting (Leyandii) not native to this location. In such circumstances it is not
deemed necessary, reasonable or proportionate to insist upon full ecological recording to
preclude the possibility of adverse impacts upon protected species. Subject to compliance
with separate regulatory mechanisms under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 in respect
of breeding birds, it is not considered that the proposal would adversely impact upon
protected species and habitats or prove contrary to the requirements of HDPF policies 25
and 31.
Climate change:
6.31

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.

6.32

Should the application be approved, the following measures to build resilience to climate
change and reduce carbon emissions will be secured by condition:
-

6.33

Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity
Cycle parking facilities
Electric vehicle charging points

Subject to these conditions the application will suitably reduce the impact of the development
on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Other considerations:

6.34

It is noted that a representation draws the attention of the Planning Authority to possible
Archaeological considerations, however the site is not within a defined Archaeological
Notification Area and the Council’s Archaeological advisors have no historic environment
objections.

6.35

In respect of any covenants restricting activities within Roundabout Copse, it is noted that
ownership of land, including covenants attached to land, are not material to the determination
of a planning application. The presence of a planning permission would not override any
existing covenant on the site.
Conclusions and Planning Balance:

6.36

The application site benefits from outline planning permission under reference DC/20/0157
which has established the principle of the erection of a detached bungalow on the site. The
design of the proposed dwelling on the site is considered acceptable with reference to the
requirements of policies 25, 32 and 33 of the HDPF. With appropriate recommended
conditions as listed below it is considered that the development would avoid unacceptable
harm to the amenities of neighbouring property compliant with Policy 33 of the HDPF and
the proposal would provide adequate parking provision, and is not considered to result in a
material impact to road safety in accordance with HDPF policy 41. For these reasons, the
proposal is considered to accord with all relevant local and national planning policies.
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

6.37

Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.

Page 50

6.38

It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Zone 1

Existing

Net Gain

147.39

147.39
Total Gain
Total Demolition

147.39

6.39

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.

6.40

In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve the development subject to the following conditions:
Conditions:

1

Approved Plans

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage strategy
detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly drained
and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any works of
demolition or site clearance, until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be
adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for, but not be
limited to:
i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors.
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials.
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development.
iv. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding, where appropriate.
v. the provision of wheel washing facilities if necessary.
vi. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction.
vii. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction
works.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in order to consider the potential impacts on the
amenity of adjacent properties during construction and in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 51

5

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule of
materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows and roofs of the
approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in
writing and all materials used in the construction of the development hereby permitted shall
conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

6

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall have been
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall
include plans and measures addressing the following:
•
Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
•
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers
•
Details of all boundary fences/walls
The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any part of
the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees or
hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or lopped
without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years after
completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5 years,
dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority
gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape and
townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of visual
amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until a fast charge electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling has been installed. As a
minimum, the charge point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector. The
means for charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and to
sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for
pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

8

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall meet the optional
requirement of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres
per person per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be
retained.
Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

9

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public
Holidays.

Page 52

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

NOTE TO APPLICANT
Southern Water:
Please note that Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the public foul
sewer to be made by the applicant or developer. To make an application visit Southern Water's Get
Connected service: developerservices.southernwater.co.uk and please read our New Connections
Charging Arrangements documents which are available on our website via the following link:
southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements. For further advice,
please contact Southern Water, Southern House, Yeoman Road, Worthing,
West Sussex, BN13 3NX (Tel: 0330 303 0119). Website: southernwater.co.uk or by email at:
SouthernWaterPlanning@southernwater.co.uk

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

07) DC/21/1234
Ashley House, Roundabout Copse, West Chiltington
The Hollies

¯

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public
Jarrah
Firwood
Cottage

Picketty
House

Quilters

Bramley
Cottage

34.5m

Westerlyn

Yew Tree
House
GROVELA
RO
UN
D

Firtops
AB
O

UT

The Rookeries

Reynards
CO

The Rustlings
Mallards

PS
E
e
De

1

w
rs
d
oo

Ashley
House

Oak Ridge
6

Amberdown
Hammerton Chase

Hillside

Little Boynton

The Pines

Track

GP
LB

CB
Und

31.5m
CH

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

05/08/2021

Page 55MSA Number

NE

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

17 August 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Erection of a two-storey dwelling.

SITE:

Brookside Farm Dagbrook Lane Henfield West Sussex BN5 9SH

WARD:

Henfield

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0993

APPLICANT:

Name: Mark Hooper Address: Care of Agent Melton Lodge Rusper Road
Newdigate RH5 5BX

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: The application, if approved, would represent a
departure from the Development Plan

RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the existing barn and the
replacement with a two storey dwelling.

1.3

The proposed dwelling would be located centrally within the site, away from the shared
boundary to the south, and would comprise an ‘L’ shaped dwelling measuring to a 15m and
a width of 10.7m. The proposal would incorporate a pitched roof measuring to an overall
height of 7.45m, with a single storey half-hipped roof projection extending to the north. The
proposed dwelling would finished in black stained boarding with clay tiles to the roof and a
brick plinth. The dwelling would provide a kitchen/living/dining room, utility room, guest
bedroom (with ensuite), w.c, and study to the ground floor, with 3no. bedrooms (one with
ensuite and walk-in wardrobe), and bathroom to the first floor.

1.4

An area of hardstanding is proposed around the proposed dwelling, along with an area of
parking suitable for 2no. vehicles. Amenity space would be provided to the north and west of
the dwelling, with additional native hedging proposed along the southern boundary.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 57

Tel: 01403 215166

1.5

The application site is located to the south-west of Brooms Hill and is accessed via Dagbrook
Lane. The site is located outside any defined built-up area boundary and is therefore located
within a countryside location in policy terms.

1.6

The site comprises a pole barn located on sloping ground, with the floor set down from the
surrounding land level. The barn is positioned immediately on the shared boundary with a
residential dwelling known as Little Hilltop. This dwelling comprises an ‘L’ shaped former
stable building oriented to face away from the application site, albeit that a parking area for
the dwelling is located adjacent to the application site.

1.7

The surrounding land comprises agricultural fields, with the land falling to the west. An
access track is located to the north-west of the site, with woodland located to the south-east.
A number of agricultural and residential properties are located to the north of the application
site.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

2.3

National Planning Policy Framework

2.4

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 10 - Rural Economic Development
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 30 - Protected Landscapes
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding
Policy 39 - Strategic Policy: Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

2.5

Henfield Parish Neighbourhood Plan
Policy 1 – A Spatial Plan for the Parish
Policy 4 – Transport, Access and Car Parking

Page 58

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/15/0530

Prior Approval of proposed Change of Use of
Agricultural Building to 3 Dwellinghouses (Use Class
C3) and associated operational development

Prior Approval Required
and
REFUSED
on
05.05.2015

DC/15/1950

Prior Approval of Proposed Change of Use of
Agricultural Buildings to Form 3 Dwellinghouses (Use
Class C3).

Prior Approval Required
and
PERMITTED
on
15.10.2015

DC/16/0147

Prior Approval for the Operation Development
required for the Conversion of Agriculture Buildings to
form 3 dwellinghouses (Use Class C3)

Prior Approval Required
and
REFUSED
on
10.03.2016

DC/19/1805

Demolition of existing barn and erection of a detached
single storey dwelling with associated parking

Application Refused on
16.03.2020

DC/20/0799

Proposed works to fully enclose existing barn

Application Permitted on
26.06.2020

DC/20/0817

Change of use from an agricultural building to
dwellings (C3 Use class). Agricultural barn / holding

Prior Approval Required
and
PERMITTED
on
17.08.2020

DC/20/2593

Demolition of existing barn and erection of a double
storey dwelling.

Application Refused on
16.03.2021

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.2

WSCC Highways: No objection
The site is located on Dagbrook Lane which is privately maintained road and accessed via
Dagbrook Lane and Broardmere Common. These accessways are also considered to be
Public Rights of Way (PROW), namely footpaths 2574 & 2575. Public Right of Way bridleway
no 3513 is located circa 130 metres west of the site.
Given the planning history of the site and given it is accepted that agricultural buildings have
the ability to generate vehicular activity, no in principle highways concerns would be raised
to the latest iteration of the residential development proposed.
An area of hardstanding has been identified to park 2 vehicles. This would be considered a
suitable quantum of parking provision for a dwelling of this size in this location.
In the interests of sustainability and as result of the Government’s ‘Road to Zero’ strategy for
at least 50% of new car sales to be ultra-low emission by 2030, electric vehicle (EV) charging
points should be provided for all new homes. Active EV charging points should be provided
for the development in accordance with current EV sales rates within West Sussex (Appendix
B of WSCC Guidance on Parking at New Developments) and Horsham Local Plan policy.
Ducting should be provided to all remaining parking spaces to provide ‘passive’ provision for
these to be upgraded in future. A secure and covered cycle parking provision should also be
included.
The Local Highways Authority does not consider that the proposal would have and an
unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the

Page 59

operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraph 109 [now paragraph 111]), and that there are no transport grounds
to resist the proposal.
3.3

WSCC Fire and Rescue: Comment
Currently the nearest hydrant to this proposed property is 1020 metres away. The supply of
water for firefighting for a domestic premises should be within 175 metres. Condition
recommended to secure additional fire hydrant.
Evidence will also be required that Fire Service vehicle access meets with the
requirements identified in Approved Document B Volume 1 2019 Edition: B5 Section 13,
including Table 13.1 and diagram 13.1. Parts of the access route to this property are less
than 3.1 metres and therefor a Fire Appliance would not be able to gain access to the
proposed site, Approved Document – B Volume 1: 2019 edition B5 section 13 requires 3.1
metre width through a gateway and 3.7 metres between curbs of a road.

3.4

Southern Water: No objection
There are no public foul sewers in the area to serve this development. The Applicant is
advised to examine alternative means of foul disposal.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.5

Henfield Parish Council: Objection
Contrary to Policies 1, 2, 3, 4, 26 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

3.6

4 letters of objection were received from 3 separate households, and these can be
summarised as follows:
-

Single access track through Broadmere Common and impact on wildlife
Increased traffic
Impact on public footpath
Loss of barn

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the existing barn and the
replacement with a two storey dwelling.
Principle of Development

6.2

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and
section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that applications for
planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

Page 60

6.3

Policy 2 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) sets out the main growth
strategy, focusing development in the main settlements. The appeal site is situated outside
of any of the defined settlement as categorised under Policy 3 of the HDPF, and therefore is
considered to be in a countryside location in policy terms.

6.4

Policy 4 of the HDPF outlines that the expansion of settlements outside the built-up area are
supported where the site is allocated in the Local Plan or in a Neighbourhood Plan and
adjoins an existing settlement edge; the level of expansion is appropriate to the scale and
function of the settlement type; the development is demonstrated to meet the identified local
housing needs; the impact of development individually or cumulatively does not prejudice
comprehensive long term development; and the development is contained within an existing
defensible boundary and the landscape and townscape character features are maintained
and enhanced.

6.5

The HDPF outlines that the proposed settlement hierarchy is the most sustainable approach
to delivering housing; with new development focused in the larger settlements of Horsham,
Southwater and Billingshurst; with limited new development elsewhere, only where it accords
with an adopted Neighbourhood Plan. Specifically, Policy 3 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework seeks to retain the existing settlement pattern and ensure that development
takes place in the most sustainable locations as possible.

6.6

Policy 1 of the Henfield Parish Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals
outside of the defined built-up area boundary will be supported where they conform, as
appropriate to their location in the neighbourhood area, to national and HDPF policies in
respect of development in the countryside.

6.7

Paragraph 79 of the NPPF states that "to promote development in rural areas, housing
should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning
policies should identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will
support local services. Where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one
village may support services in a village nearby."

6.8

Paragraph 80 of the NPPF continues that "planning policies and decisions should avoid the
development of isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more of the following
circumstances apply:
a)
there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control
of a farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the
countryside;
b)
the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or would
be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets;
c)
the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its
immediate setting;
d)
the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential dwelling; or
e)
the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:
is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in
architecture, and would help to raise standards of design more generally in
rural areas; and
would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the
defining characteristics of the local area.

6.9

The term “isolated” is not defined within the National Planning Policy Framework, but case
law has confirmed that it should be given its ordinary objective meaning of remote and far
away from other places, buildings and people, and separate or remote from a settlement,
services, and facilities. It was concluded in the Braintree Judgement that a settlement would
not necessarily exclude a cluster of dwellings. The application site is located within close
proximity to a number of residential dwellings and other buildings, and given this spatial

Page 61

context is not considered to be “isolated” in its truest sense, and does not therefore engage
the considerations of paragraph 80.
6.10

The application site is however located within the countryside in policy terms. The proposed
development, resulting in the provision of a dwelling within a countryside location, would
therefore be contrary to the overarching spatial strategy, and the development plan policies
within the Horsham District Planning Framework.

6.11

While the provision of new dwellings in the countryside would not usually be supported in
policy terms, it is recognised that the site benefits from an extant Class Q Prior Approval
permission under reference DC/20/0817 for the conversion of the agricultural buildings to C3
Residential. The conversion permitted the conversion of the buildings to 3no. 2-bed dwellings
and 1no. 4-bed dwelling. Fallback is a material consideration in the decision-making process,
and when making a determination, weight needs to be given to the fallback position. The
weight to be given to such material consideration varies according to whether what could
have been built under previous applications would result in a broadly similar or worse impact
to the development proposed; and the reasonable likelihood that if permission were refused,
the previous approval(s) would be implemented.

6.12

A previous full planning application under reference DC/20/2593 considered the fallback
position in relation to a new build two storey dwelling. The proposed dwelling was to be
repositioned slightly to the north-west of the original barn, albeit that it would partly occupy
the footprint of the existing barn. The proposal would measure to a similar footprint and would
extend to a greater ridge height than the existing building. It was however considered that
the proposal would be of a deliberate domestic design, which was considered to reinforce a
far-greater degree of domesticity. In addition, the positioning and extent of the dwelling would
marginally intrude onto the existing field pattern and would necessitate the repositioning of
an existing farm access. Overall, the proposal was considered to result in a more prominent
form of development compared to the fallback scheme, with the increased degree of
domesticity considered to result in an incongruous form of development that would bear
limited relationship to its agricultural setting and context. It was thereby concluded that the
proposed dwelling would have a harmful impact upon the character and appearance of the
surroundings, and would result in a greater detrimental impact on the surroundings than the
extant prior approval permission under planning reference DC/20/0817.

6.13

The increased level of accommodation was also considered to result in a greater demand
for services due to the greater occupancy. It was therefore concluded that the proposal, in
terms of sustainable access to services and amenities, would prove materially greater than
that subject of the extant consent. The weight to be afforded to the presence of an extant
consent was not considered to outweigh the conflict with Policy 40 of the HDPF, and the
proposal was considered to give rise to a greater level of occupancy and associated demand
for services and amenities than the consent under Class Q. The application was refused on
the grounds that the proposal would result in adverse effects that would be materially greater
than those resulting from the preceding consent, with the degree of weight assigned to the
presence of a realistic fall-back not considered sufficient to justify a departure from the Local
Plan in this regard.

6.14

The current application has sought to address these previous concerns through a re-design
of the proposed dwelling. The proposal would be located further to the north-west, similar to
that previously proposed and refused under DC/20/2593, albeit that the proposal now seeks
to reflect the proportions and scale of the existing building. The proposed dwelling would
incorporate black stained weatherboarding and brick plinth, with a pitched clay tiles roof that
would extend to a similar height as the existing building. An additional single storey extension
is proposed to the northern elevation, with the curtilage of the dwelling extending to a similar
area as that previously proposed.

Page 62

6.15

The proposed development would re-locate the building from the southern boundary and the
adjacent residential dwelling; would provide additional accommodation across two floors;
and would result in a greater number of windows and natural light into the habitable rooms.
These elements would result in social benefits that would improve the environment and
quality of accommodation for future occupiers, as well as its relationship with the adjacent
residential dwelling, and this benefit is considered to be of weight in the assessment of the
current application.

6.16

The fallback position is a material consideration of weight, with the proposed scheme
considered to improve the quality and provision of accommodation within the site, while also
improving the building’s relationship with the neighbour to the south. While the provision of
new dwellings in this countryside location would not usually be supported by policy, given
the fallback position through the extant Class Q permission, it is considered that the proposed
scheme would result in a built form that would improve and enhance the character of the
semi-rural locality. On the basis of the potential to utilise Class Q permitted development
rights, and the likelihood of this occurring, the fallback position is considered to be of
significant weight to the consideration of the current application. The current application is
therefore considered to benefit from a fallback position, with the proposed development likely
to provide a better, more rational re-development of the site.

6.17

In weighing the policy considerations and the existence of a fallback position, it is considered
that the principle of the proposed redevelopment is acceptable, subject to all other material
considerations.
Design and Appearance

6.18

Policy 25 of the HDPF states that the natural environment and landscape character of the
District, including landscape, landform and development pattern, together with protected
landscapes, will be protected against inappropriate development. Proposals should protect,
conserve and enhance the landscape character, taking into account areas identified as being
of landscape importance. In addition, policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF promote development
that is of a high quality design, which is based upon a clear understanding of the local,
physical, social, economic, environmental, and policy context. Development will be expected
to provide an attractive, functional, and accessible environment that complements locally
distinctive characters and heritage of the District. Development should contribute to a sense
of place both in the buildings and spaces themselves and in the way they integrate with their
surroundings and the historic landscape in which they sit. Development should ensure that
the scale, massing and appearance of the development relates sympathetically with the built
surroundings, landscape, open spaces and routes within and adjoining the site.

6.19

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments
function well and add to the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of
good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting;
establish a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building types
and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and
mix of development; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible.

6.20

Concerns were initially raised regarding the design detailing of the proposed dwelling,
specifically relating to the fenestration. It was recognised that the proposal sought to reflect
the existing proportions and character of the barn, which was considered appropriate given
the context, however the uniform size and arrangement of the window openings was
considered to result in an overt sense of domesticity. When couple with the off-centred cart
opening, it was considered that the proposal would be unreflective of the vernacular and
character of the former barn building.

Page 63

6.21

The Applicant has addressed these concerns by centring the cart opening to the western
elevation, along with a reduction and repositioning of the windows so that they are randomly
arranged within the elevations. This has reduced the domestic character of the buildings and
improved the overall appearance of the proposed dwelling.

6.22

The proposed dwelling would now be of similar form and proportions to the existing building,
and is considered to sit appropriately within the context of the site and the neighbouring
property. The proposal is not therefore considered to result in any further harm to the
landscape character and visual amenities of the countryside setting, in accordance with
Policies 25, 32, and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
Amenity Impacts

6.23

Policy 32 of the HDPF states that development will be expected to provide an attractive,
functional, accessible, safe, and adaptable environment that contributes a sense of place
both in the buildings and spaces themselves. Policy 33 continues that development shall be
required to ensure that it is designed to avoid unacceptable harm to the amenity of
occupiers/users of nearby property and land.

6.24

The proposed dwelling would extend to a similar height as the existing building sought to be
demolished, with the new dwelling located further to the north-west than the existing built
form. This would increase the spatial separation from the existing residential dwelling of Little
Hilltop to the south and is considered to improve the relationship between the two buildings.
Limited window openings would be proposed along this elevation, and this would ensure that
there is limited overlooking to the adjacent dwelling.

6.25

While recognised that the proposal would introduce full height glazing to the western
elevation, with the provision of a Juliette balcony to the first floor, given the orientation of the
dwelling, it is considered that the proposal would only result in limited oblique views to the
amenity space of Little Hilltop to the south. It is not therefore considered that this would result
in adverse harm to the amenities of the neighbouring occupier to the south.

6.26

The proposal would result in some benefit through the relocation of the proposed dwelling
away from the shared boundary, with the resulting dwelling including limited window
openings to the south. While recognised that the proposal would introduce a fully glazed
feature to the western elevation, it is not considered that this would result in a sufficient
degree of overlooking to justify a reason for refusal on amenity grounds. The proposal is
therefore considered acceptable, in accordance with Policies 32 and 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
Highways Impacts

6.27

Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF promote development that provides safe and adequate
access, suitable for all users.

6.28

The proposed development would utilise the existing access from Broomers Hill and
Dagbrook Lane to the north-east. This access serves and passes a number of existing
residential dwellings and agricultural buildings.

6.29

Following consultation from WSCC Highways, it is accepted that the proposed development
would likely result in a reduction in vehicular activity, with no highways concerns raised in
principle. The area of hardstanding proposed would be suitable for the anticipated parking
provision, and no objections have been raised by the Local Highways Authority.

6.30

The proposed development would utilise an existing access, where there is no evidence to
suggest that this is not functioning safely or appropriately. The proposal is not anticipated to

Page 64

result in a material intensification in use of the access, with the proposed parking provision
considered acceptable.
6.31

WSCC Fire and Rescue have raised concerns regarding the width of the access for a Fire
Appliance. It is however recognised that this access serves a number of existing and
established residential dwellings. At the Building Regulation stage, evidence will be required
to demonstrate that the vehicle access meet the requirements identified in Approved
Document B Volume 1 2019 Edition: B5 Section 13.

6.32

As such, the proposal is considered to accord with Policies 40 and 41 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
Climate change:

6.33

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These
policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.

6.34

Should the application be approved, the following measures to build resilience to climate
change and reduce carbon emissions will be secured by condition:
-

6.35

Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity
Cycle parking facilities
Electric vehicle charging points

Subject to these conditions the application will suitably reduce the impact of the development
on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Conclusion

6.36

The application site benefits from an extant Class Q Prior Approval permission under
reference DC/20/0817. This fallback position is a material consideration of significant weight,
with the proposed scheme considered to improve the quality and provision of
accommodation within the site, while also improving the building’s relationship with the
neighbouring property to the south. While the provision of new dwellings in this countryside
location would not usually be supported by policy, given the fallback position through the
extant Class Q permission, it is considered that the proposed scheme would result in a built
form that would improve and enhance the character of the semi-rural locality. The proposed
development is considered to provide a better, more rational re-development of the site, and
would result in public benefit in this regard.

6.37

The proposed development would result in no further harm to the landscape character and
visual amenities of the area, and would provide benefits through re-locating the built form
away from the nearest residential property. The proposal is not therefore considered to result
in harm to the amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring properties or users of land. In
addition, the proposal would provide adequate parking provision, and is not considered to
result in a material intensification in number of vehicular trips or use of the access. For these
reasons, the proposal is considered to accord with all relevant local and national planning
policies.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

Page 65

6.38

Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.

6.39

It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Zone 1

Existing

213.7

Net Gain
213.7

Total Gain
Total Demolition

112.8

6.40

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.

6.41

In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve the development subject to the following conditions:
Conditions:

1

Approved Plans

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until the following
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination, (including
asbestos contamination), of the site be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local
planning authority:
(a)

A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
The following aspects (b) - (d) shall be dependent on the outcome of the above preliminary
risk assessment (a) and may not necessarily be required.
(b)
An intrusive site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for a
detailed risk assessment to the degree and nature of the risk posed by any
contamination to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
(c)
Full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken
based on the results of the intrusive site investigation (b) and an options appraisal.
(d)
A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in (c) are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangements for contingency action where required.
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. Any changes to these components require
the consent of the local planning authority.

Page 66

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
4

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule of
materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows and roofs of the
approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in
writing and all materials used in the construction of the development hereby permitted shall
conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

5

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until the parking, turning and access facilities necessary to serve that dwelling have been
implemented in accordance with the approved details as shown on plan 210426_R0_001
and shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To ensure adequate parking, turning and access facilities are available to serve
the development in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

6

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until a fast charge electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling has been installed. As a
minimum, the charge point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector. The
means for charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and to
sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for
pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

7

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until the cycle parking facilities serving it have been provided within the side or rear garden
for that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at all times. The cycle
parking facilities shall thereafter be retained as such for their designated use.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in accordance
with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been provided within the side or
rear garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in accordance
with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

9

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until the necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to
enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre
broadband connection has been provided to the premises.

Page 67

Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
10

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until a fire hydrant(s) to BS 750 standards or stored water supply (in accordance with the
West Sussex Fire and Rescue Guidance Notes) has been installed, connected to a water
supply with appropriate pressure and volume for firefighting, and made ready for use in
consultation with the WSCC Fire and Rescue Service. The hydrant(s) or stored water supply
shall thereafter be retained as such.
Reason: In accordance with fire and safety regulations in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall meet the optional
requirement of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres
per person per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be
retained.
Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

12

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (and/or any Order revoking and/or
re-enacting that Order no development falling within Classes A, B, C, and D of Part 1 of
Schedule 2 (amend classes and schedule as necessary) of the order shall be erected,
constructed or placed within the curtilage(s) of the development hereby permitted without
express planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being obtained.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and due to countryside location, and in accordance
with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/21/0993

Page 68

08) DC/21/0993
Brookside Farm, Dagbrook Lane, Henfield

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Scale: 1:5,000
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

05/08/2021

Page 69MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

